Deepak Singh

The Unmet Objective of Health Financing in India. Affordable Health Care for All

Master's Thesis

G R I N 🙂

YOUR KNOWLEDGE HAS VALUE



- We will publish your bachelor's and master's thesis, essays and papers
- Your own eBook and book sold worldwide in all relevant shops
- Earn money with each sale

Upload your text at www.GRIN.com and publish for free



Bibliographic information published by the German National Library:

The German National Library lists this publication in the National Bibliography; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at http://dnb.dnb.de .

This book is copyright material and must not be copied, reproduced, transferred, distributed, leased, licensed or publicly performed or used in any way except as specifically permitted in writing by the publishers, as allowed under the terms and conditions under which it was purchased or as strictly permitted by applicable copyright law. Any unauthorized distribution or use of this text may be a direct infringement of the author's and publisher's rights and those responsible may be liable in law accordingly.

Imprint:

Copyright © 2019 GRIN Verlag ISBN: 9783346061386

This book at GRIN:

https://www.grin.com/document/503571

The Unmet Objective of Health Financing in India. Affordable Health Care for All

GRIN - Your knowledge has value

Since its foundation in 1998, GRIN has specialized in publishing academic texts by students, college teachers and other academics as e-book and printed book. The website www.grin.com is an ideal platform for presenting term papers, final papers, scientific essays, dissertations and specialist books.

Visit us on the internet:

http://www.grin.com/ http://www.facebook.com/grincom http://www.twitter.com/grin_com

AFFORDABLE HEALTH CARE FOR ALL: THE UNMET OBJECTIVE OF HEALTH FINANCING IN INDIA

Deepak Singh India

55 Master of Public Health/ International Course in Health Development

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute) Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam (VU) A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

Master of Public Health

by

Deepak Singh

India

55 th Master of Public Health/International Course in Health Development (MPH/ICHD) 17 September 2018-6 September 2019 KIT (Royal Tropical Institute) / Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Amsterdam, The Netherlands

September 2019

Organized by:

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute) Amsterdam, The Netherlands

In co-operation with:

Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam/Free University of Amsterdam (VU) Amsterdam, The Netherlands

CONTENTS:

LIST C	DF TABLES: IV
LIST C	0F FIGURES:V
ACKNO	OWLEDGEMENTS: VI
LIST C	OF ABBREVIATION: VII
GLOSS	SARY:VIII
ABSTR	XACTX
INTRO	DUCTION XI
СНАРТ	ER 1 BACKGROUND INFORMATION1-
1.1.	GEOGRAPHY:
1.2.	GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION:
1.3.	POPULATION:
1.4.	NATIONAL CURRENCY: 2 -
СНАРТ	TER 2 PROBLEM STATEMENT, JUSTIFICATION, AND OBJECTIVES3-
2.1. P	ROBLEM STATEMENT: 3 -
2.2. ງເ	JSTIFICATION: 6 -
2.3.	OBJECTIVES: 6 -
2.4.	METHODOLOGY: 7 -
2.5.	SEARCH STRATEGY: 7 -
2.6.	EXCLUSION CRITERIA: 7 -
2.7.	FRAMEWORK:
2.8.	KEYWORDS: 10 -
2.9.	LIMITATIONS: 10 -
СНАРТ	ER 3 STUDY RESULTS FINDINGS11-
3.1.	GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT (GDP) GROWTH RATES: 11 -
3.2.	ACTORS INVOLVED IN STEWARDSHIP FUNCTIONS: 11 -
3.3.	HEALTHCARE SYSTEM, SERVICE DELIVERY AND INFRASTRUCTURE: 12 -
3.4.	HUMAN RESOURCES FOR HEALTH:13-
3.5.	LEGAL AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK FOR HEALTH FINANCING:15-
3.6.	KEY ACTORS IN HEALTH FINANCING:16-
3.7.	HEALTH EXPENDITURE IN INDIA:
3.8.	RESOURCE COLLECTION: 18 -
3.9.	POOLING:
3.10.	PURCHASING: 30 -

CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION:	-36-
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION:	-42-
Reference:	45 -

LIST OF TABLES:

Table 1 Human Development Index, Child Mortality Indicators And Incidence Of TuberculosisIn India And Neighboring Countries; 2016
Table 2 Institutional Delivery, Antenatal Care And Immunization Across The Wealth QuintileIn India
Table 3 Percentage Distribution Of Under-Five Mortality, Infant Mortality, Neonatal Mortality, Across The Wealth Quintile4 -
Table 4 Percent Of Household Reporting As A Source Of Finance For Meeting The Medical Expenditure From A Rural And Urban Area From Different Wealth Quintile 2015-16 5 -
Table 5 Health Financing Function With Their Performance Indicator - 8 -
Table 6 Operationalization Of Each Indicator 9 -
Table 7 Health Financing Function With Key Word Used 10 -
Table 8 Financing Indicators And Public Health Services 14 -
Table 9 Source Of Health Care Provider Across Wealth Index And Rural Urban Area 15 -
Table 10 Key Health Financing Indicators For India 2015-16 17 -
Table 11 Source Of Tax As A Percent Of Gdp From Financial Year; 2013-14 To 2016-17- 19 -
Table 12 Revenue From Health Insurance Schemes - 22 -
Table 13 Health Insurance Scheme By Residence And Wealth Quintile 2015-16 25 -
Table 14 Expenditure Of Health Insurance Agencies
Table 15 Public Health Insurance Scheme Institutional Design
Table 16 Health Insurance Scheme With Benefit Package And Payment Mechanism 31 -
Table 17 Health Insurance Scheme-Wise Benefit Package - 32 -
Table 18 Current Health Expenditure By Health Care Goods And Services
Table 19 Package Rate Difference By Health Insurance Scheme

LIST OF FIGURES:

Figure 1	Percent Distribution Of The Urban And Rural Population By Wealth Quintile \ldots - 2 -
Figure 2 Health Fi	Institutional And Organizational Assessment For Improvement And Strengthening nancing(Oasis) Analytical Framework
Figure 3	Iercentage Of Registered Ayush Doctors In India 13 -
Figure 4	Flow Of Funds 16 -
Figure 5 Health	Trend Of Union, State Government Share As % In Total Public Expenditure On - 20 -
Figure 6	Trend In Unspent Balance 21 -
Figure 7	Under Utilization Of Funds By State Government 21 -
Figure 8	Trend In Government Health Expenditure 27 -
Figure 9	Government Health Expenditure And Out-Of-Pocket Expenditure

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

I want to thank God for giving me the strength to complete my thesis writing. I express my deepest gratitude to my thesis advisor and my thesis back for giving their support during writing.

I also want to thank all the tutor and administrative staff of the Royal Tropical Institute for their generous support throughout the course.

Many thanks to Orange Knowledge Program for providing the opportunity to learn in the Royal Tropical Institute.

Last but not least, I thank my parents and my wife for giving me support throughout the course as well as thesis writing.

LIST OF ABBREVIATION:

GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GSDP	Gross State Domestic Product
GGE	General Government Expenditure
GSGE	General State Government Expenditure
GGHE	General Government Health Expenditure
GGHE	General Government Health Expenditure
GSGHE	General State Government Health Expenditure
OOPE	Out Of Pocket Expenditure
THE	Total Health Expenditure
CGHS	Central Government Health Scheme
ESIC	Employees' State Insurance Corporation
RSBY	Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana
HDI	Human Development Index
UHC	Universal Health Coverage
NFHS	National Family Health Survey
WHO	World Health Organization
МОН	Ministry Of Health
GOI	Government Of India
AYUSH	Ayurveda, Yoga & Naturopathy, Unani, Siddha and Homoeopathy

INR Indian Nation Rupee

GLOSSARY:

Capital Expenditure: Expenditure on building capital assets, renovations and expansions of buildings, purchasing of vehicles, machines, equipment, medical/ AYUSH/ paramedical education, research and development, training (except on the job training), major repair work(50).

Current Health Expenditure: Final consumption expenditure of resident units on healthcare goods and services(50).

Household Health Expenditure: Sum of direct expenditures (out of pocket payments) and indirect expenditures (prepayments as health insurance contributions or premiums)(50).

Out-of-Pocket Expenditure: Out-of-pocket expenditure(OOP), medical costs that households bear at the time of availing healthcare service(50).

Total Health Expenditure (THE): Total health expenditure is the sum of current health expenditure and capital health expenditure in the same financial year(50).

Public Health Care Facilities (Public Facilities): It includes medical college hospitals, district hospitals, sub-district hospitals, and community health centers(50).

Government Health Expenditure: It includes expenditures from union and state government, rural and urban local bodies including quasi-governmental organizations and donors in case funds are channeled through government organizations(50).

Government Transfers: It includes funds allocated from government domestic revenues for health purposes. fund is allocated through internal transfers and grants(50).

Gross Domestic Product(GDP): The total money value of all final goods and services produced in an economy over a period of one year(28).

Total Health Expenditure (THE) as percent of GDP and Per Capita: THE constitutes current and capital expenditures incurred by government and private sources including external funds. Total health expenditure as percentage of GDP indicates health spending relative to the country's economic development. THE per capita indicates health expenditure per person in the country(50).

Current Health Expenditures (CHE) as percent of THE: Current health expenditure constitutes only recurrent expenditures for healthcare purposes net all capital expenditures. Current health expenditure as percent of THE indicate the operational expenditures on healthcare that impact the health outcomes of the population in that particular(50).

Government Health Expenditure (GHE) as percent of THE: government health expenditure constitutes spending under all schemes funded and managed by union, state and local governments including quasi-governmental organizations and donors in case funds are channeled through government organizations(48).

Social Security Expenditure on health as per cent of THE: Social security expenditures include finances allocated by the government towards payment of premiums for union and state government financed health insurance schemes (RSBY and other state specific health insurance schemes), employees' benefit schemes or any reimbursements made to government employees' for healthcare purposes and social health insurance scheme

expenditures. This indicates extent of pooled funds available for specific categories of population(49).

External/Donor Funding for health as percent of THE: This constitutes all funding available to the country by assistance from donors agencies(50).

Out of Pocket Expenditures (OOPE) as percent of THE: This indicates extent of financial protection available for households towards healthcare payments(50).

Private Health Insurance Expenditures as percent of THE: Private health insurance expenditures constitute spending through health insurance companies wherein households or employers pay a premium to be covered under a specific health plan. This indicates the extent to which there are voluntary prepayments plans to provide financial protection.

Government Health Expenditure as % of General Government Expenditure (GGE): This is a proportion of share of government expenditures towards healthcare in the general government expenditures and indicates government's priority towards healthcare(50).

Household Health Expenditure as % of THE: Household health expenditures constitute both direct expenditures (OOPE) and indirect expenditures (prepayments as health insurance contributions or premiums)(50).

Union and State Government Health Expenditure as % of GHE: The union government health expenditures includes the funds allocated by different ministries and departments of union government towards healthcare of general population and its employees. Similarly the state government health expenditure includes the funds allocated by different departments under all the state governments towards healthcare of general population and its employees'(50).

Pharmaceutical Expenditures as % of CHE: This includes spending on prescription medicines during a health system contact and self-medication(often referred to as over-the-counter products) and the expenditure on pharmaceuticals as part of inpatient and outpatient care from prescribing physicians(50).

ABSTRACT

Introduction: In India, healthcare costs are increasing and India's health financing system is exacerbating economic burden on household because of health expenditure and influence treatment-seeking behaviors. As a result, health inequity and unequal access, come up as the main concern for the Indian Health care system. This study aims to report the bottlenecks in health financing functions resulting in financial barrios in health care access.

Methodology: Literature review and desk study were done by reviewing, analyzing the data from national health account and National Family Health Survey conducted during 2012-13 to 2015-16 and analysis of studies done on health system and Health financing functions in India were included. The OASIS framework used to guide the study.

Result: Inability of the state government to utilize available funds and inadequate public spending on health result in out-of-pocket expenses, as the most significant source of revenue for health financing, and poses a barrier to access for healthcare, as inadequate availability and poor-quality of services given by public facilities push the patient to costly private health-care services.

Twenty eight percent of the Indian population have medical insurance indicating inadequate financial protection against unseen medical cot; Fragmentation of Health insurance schemes and corruption are factors for low coverage.

Also, benefit-packages varies among schemes in respect of number of available packages and the annual spending limit.

Discussion: Inadequate financial protection and high household expenditure on health including out of pocket expenditure, resulting in catastrophic spending and may push the household below the poverty line and have negative impact on health seeking behavior and utilization of available health care services.

Recommendations: To remove financial barrier, government must priorities health in public policy, public spending on health should increase, state government should utilization available funds efficiently and should consider one nation one health insurance.

Keywords: Sources of financing, intersectional approach, out-of-pocket payments, health care financing, India

Word Count: 12,160

INTRODUCTION

Globally, total spending on health is increasing faster than the gross domestic product (GDP). The trend in public spending on health is also increased over time, in terms of total health spending, but it is still inadequate in most of the LMICs(1). With economic growth and advancement in medical science life expectancy in India has increased; however, this advancement is accompanied by costly medicines, and the diagnostic procedure has increased the healthcare cost. Increased health care cost has limited the affordability of health care services to most of the Indians(2).

The government of India recognizes the need for quality health services which is affordable to all and attempting to increase government spending on health, the Indian government launched national schemes to ensure affordable health care services and financial protection to its citizens and aiming better health outcomes and(3). However, despite these measures, India is still among the top ten countries with high out of pocket payments(8).

Out of pocket payment expenditure(OOPE) is considered to be a most regressive form of financing and indicates an inefficient mechanism of prepayment, risk-pooling, and cross-subsidization and as a consequence, OOP results in catastrophic expenditure on health and may end in impoverishment.

In my clinical practice, I had experienced a scenario where patients had to stop receiving therapy due to financial hardship or lend cash in order to continue therapy.

I have seen families who do not even go to a health care provider due to their inability to pay user fees

This paper will look at the challenges of existing health financing systems to answer why the existing health financing mechanism in India is not able to provide needed health care without financial hardship.

CHAPTER 1 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Republic of India is not only a "Union of State" and a sovereign, secular, socialist, democratic republic, as described by its constitution (5) but is a home for different ethnic groups from the different races following different religion and cultural practices and speaks different languages.



PICTURE 1 POLITICAL MAP OF INDIA (6)

1.1. GEOGRAPHY:

The land of the country consists of four regions, namely, the mountain zone, plains of the Ganga and the Indus river, the desert region, and the southern peninsula (7)

1.2. GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION:

Governance and administration of the country is done by a parliamentary form of government which is federal in structure and comprises union government, a council of ministers headed by prime minister, similarly state government a council of minister's head by chief minister, and local bodies denominated as municipalities in cities/towns and panchayats in villages. All the ministers in the government and local bodies are elected democratically as per the constitution of India (8).

India, geographically located in the south Asia region is the second most populated country in the world, has an annual population growth rate of 1.19% (9).

1.3. POPULATION:

An estimated current population of India is 1.3 billion, of which 750 million, are in the age group of 15-59 who are considered as an economically active population and 350 million are in age bracket of 0-14 whereas 125 million are aged more than 60 years(10), living in urban area (27%) comprises (640 districts, 5988 sub-districts, 7933 town) and rural (73%) area (640932 villages), of 29 states and 7 union territories (11).

1.4. NATIONAL CURRENCY:

The national currency of India is Indian national rupee (INR), and 1 INR is equivalent to 0.015 united state dollars and 0.013 Euros (1 USD = 68.50 INR and 1 Euro = 77.39 INR)(12). The current gross domestic product (GDP) of India is 2971.996 Billion USD / 11,468.022 international dollars purchasing power parity(PPP)(13).

Wealth quintile in India is calculated based on consumption goods (House, television or motorbike or other) owned by a household and divided into five wealth quintiles of which first is the poorest and fifth is the wealthiest quintile. Percent distribution of the urban and rural population according to wealth quintile is shown in figure 1.



FIGURE 1 PERCENT DISTRIBUTION OF THE URBAN AND RURAL POPULATION BY WEALTH QUINTILE(14)

CHAPTER 2 PROBLEM STATEMENT, OBJECTIVES, METHODOLOGY:

2.1. PROBLEM STATEMENT:

Human development index(HDI), reflects on the progress of a country in terms of health, education, and income together.

In comparison to neighboring countries like Bhutan, Nepal, Bangladesh, Pakistan, and Sri Lanka, India is only below Sri Lanka in terms of the HDI. It should reflect on better health, education, and income in India in comparison to neighboring countries.

However, comparing health outcome indicators of India with the neighboring countries which are below in rank in terms of HDI, it becomes evident that health outcomes in India are even poor that the neighboring countries as depicted in Table 1.

TABLE 1 HUMAN DEVELOPMENT INDEX, CHILD MORTALITY INDICATORS AND INCIDENCE OF TUBERCULOSIS IN INDIA AND NEIGHBORING COUNTRIES; 2016(15)

Country	HDI rank	Infant mortality rate/ 1000 live birth	Under-five mortality rate / 1000 live birth	Incidence of tuberculosis/ 100000 people
Sri Lanka	74	8	9.4	32
Bangladesh	134	28	34	221
Nepal	149	28	34	154
Bhutan	134	26	32	178
India	130	34	43	211

Infant mortality and under-five mortality is higher in India in comparison to Bhutan, Nepal, and Bangladesh. Table 1

Despite national programs to control tuberculosis in India, the incidence of tuberculosis is only less than Bangladesh as depicted in Table 1. It reflects on how the efforts of the country to improve health has been failed.

One of the factors which result in poor health outcomes in the country is inadequate access to health care access and poor quality of care(16).

Health care access and quality (HAQ) index, which measures the access and quality of healthcare services, India scored less than neighboring countries like Bangladesh, Nepal, Bhutan(17).

It reflects, as inadequate and disproportionate access to primary and preventive health care services across the wealth quintile, and is one of the factors resulting in poor health outcomes in India(18).

TABLE 2 INSTITUTIONAL DELIVERY, ANTENATAL CARE AND IMMUNIZATION ACROSS THE WEALTH QUINTILE IN INDIA(14)

Wealth Quintile	% of Institutional delivery	% Women Not Received Antenatal Care (ANC)	% Of Children Age 12-23 Months Not Immunization
Lowest	59.6%	34.7%	10%
second	75%	18%	6.3%
Middle	85%	11%	4.8%
fourth	90%	7.3%	3.7%
Highest	95%	5%	3.7%
India	78.6%	16%	6%

Households in the lowest wealth quintile are the ones who are deprived of service coverage which become evident by the difference in service coverage indictors like Institutional deliveries, Antenatal care, and Immunization of children across the wealth quintiles(WQ), as depicted in Table 2.

Inadequate service coverage among the lowest WQ also reflects on their health outcomes. Poor in India bear a disproportionately high burden of poor health outcomes as compared to the household in the higher wealth quintile. For instance, Under-five mortality rate, infant mortality rate, neonatal mortality rate, all are high among the households in the lowest wealth quintile as compared to a household in the highest wealth quintile. These inequalities are inversely proportional to wealth, as depicted in Table 3.

TABLE 3 PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF UNDER-FIVE MORTALITY, INFANT MORTALITY, NEONATAL MORTALITY, ACROSS THE WEALTH QUINTILE(14)

Wealth quintile	Under-five mortality rate	Infant mortality	Neonatal mortality
Lowest	59.3%	56%	40%
Second	51.2%	47%	34%
Middle	49.7%	39%	28%
Fourth	32.6%	29%	21%
Highest	21.1%	19%	14%

Along with other factors, unaffordable healthcare costs and no available health care facilities are the factors contributing to inadequate access to health care services. For instance, high costs(23%), facility too far (18%) are reason the given for not using antenatal care. Similarly, high costs(16%), facilities to far (18%) are the reason given for no institutional birth.

Money incurred to fulfill medical needs by an individual is not only a user fee which is paid at the time of service but also includes travel cost, time spent on waiting at the expense of absence from the work. Irrespective of the socio-economic status, all these costs together affect the behavior of the user and reflect on his decision to access health care services(19).

The extent of out-of-pocket expenditure(OOPE) is an indicator of financial protection against unseen health expenditures(20). In the financial year, 2015-16 OOPE estimated 60.59% of Total Health Expenditure, indicating 60.59% of total health expenditure was done by a household at the point of receiving health services and reflects on financial protection towards health care payment.

The share of OOPE in healthcare spending determines the extent of catastrophic health expenditure (CHE) and impoverishment due to health expenditure and impacts on behavior utilize healthcare services if needed due to financial hardship(21).

Borrowing and sale of assets are sources of OOPE for health care spending across all WQ. However, borrowing and sale of asset as a sources of OOPE is more common among rural population as compare to their urban counterparts, as depicted in table 4.

TABLE 4 PERCENT OF HOUSEHOLD REPORTING AS A SOURCE OF FINANCE FOR MEETING THE MEDICAL EXPENDITURE FROM A RURAL AND URBAN AREA FROM DIFFERENT WEALTH QUINTILE 2015-16(7)

Wealth quintile Rural	Household Income saving	Borrowing	sale of assets
Lowest	65%	26%	1.1%
Second	67%	25%	1.4%
Middle	68%	26%	0.6%
Fourth	68%	23%	0.4%
Highest	68%	23%	0.9%
Wealth Quintile Urban			
Lowest	68%	21%	0.04%
Second	71%	21%	0.4%
Middle	74%	20.7%	0.3%
Fourth	74%	16%	0.3%
Highest	80%	13%	0.4%

Financial hardship also affects the ability to access health care facilities; In 2015-16, 25% of the India families identified insufficient money as a factor for not going to any health care facilities for their medical needs(14).

Besides medical cost, nonmedical costs incurred on transportation and time spent on waiting at the expense of absence from the work also prevent a household from seeking

needed health care services(22). For instance, poor perceived quality of care by the patient (48%), followed by no nearby government facilities (45%) and long waiting time (41%) are factors for not using public healthcare facilities(23). It also influences their Affordability to Healthcare services and increases out of the pocket expenditure (24).

2.2. JUSTIFICATION:

For equity in access to health services, it is essential to establish a health financing system that enables access to quality health care at an affordable cost(32).

A number of studies are done at the state level to identify bottlenecks of health financing in India, but the finding of those studies cannot be generalized for the country. However, few studies are done at the country level are before 2015, so the use of these studies is limited as a recent fourth report by national family health survey, 2015-16 has shown changed scenario in health and healthcare function since 2005-06, and the result of those studies might be outdated.

Indian is aiming for universal health coverage by 2030, for which new innovative strategies in the health policies are required.

Any change in the health financing strategy depends on negotiation and political will. However, it is worthy of analyzing existing health financing system to find out flaws so that appropriate measures can be taken and move towards universal coverage This study, therefore, tries to find the bottleneck in current health financing in India.

2.3. OBJECTIVES:

2.3.1. GENERAL OBJECTIVES:

To do performance analyses of the health financing system and explore bottlenecks affecting financial accessibility to health care services, and to make necessary recommendations to relevant stakeholders.

2.3.1. SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES:

- I. To analyze the performance and challenges in the existing mechanism of resource collection affecting financial accessibility.
- II. To analyze the performance and challenges in existing mechanism pooling affecting financial accessibility.
- III. To analyze the performance and challenges in the existing mechanism of purchasing, affecting financial accessibility.
- IV. To make recommendations to appropriate stakeholders about the measures to strengthen health financing functions to improve financial accessibility.

2.4. METHODOLOGY:

This study is a literature review, and an analysis of works of literature on health financing and health financing systems in India is done. However, to analyze the performance of health financing functions desk study is done.

2.5. STRATEGY:

To search for peer-reviewed articles, I used Google scholar, pub med, Cochrane library, and Vrije University (VU) library. Snowballing was done form journals, newspaper articles, published reports to find out relevant information for the objectives.

The constitution of India was referred to find out the institutional design of the health system in India.

Online databases of relevant agencies such as The World Bank, World Health Organization, Indian Ministry of Health and family welfare, National Institute for Transforming India (NITI) Aayog, Planning Commission of India, Comptroller and Auditor General (CAG)of India. National Health Account (NHA), National Family Health Survey (NFHS) are all reviewed to obtain policies, programs, and statistic reports..

Keywords used to find literature and grey article are tabulated in Table 7. However, besides Keywords, boolean operations like "AND," "OR" were used.

2.6. EXCLUSION CRITERIA:

Literature and data available in a language other than English are not included because of the language barrier. However, all the relevant information available in the Hindi language is included from its officially translated English script. Article published before the year 2005 is not included to avoid obsolete information.

2.7. FRAMEWORK:

Despite other frameworks available to analyze the health financing system, OASIS analytical framework, as seen in figure 2, proposed by Mathauer and Carrinis(25) is chosen because OASIS framework guides to identify strength and weakness of health financing function with performance indicator focusing financial accessibility as one of the goals of health financing function.



FIGURE 2 INSTITUTIONAL AND ORGANIZATIONAL ASSESSMENT FOR IMPROVEMENT AND STRENGTHENING HEALTH FINANCING(OASIS) ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK(25)

The framework analyzes the stewardship function of the ministry of health and guides how three health financing functions: resource collection, pooling, purchasing, are shaped.

Further, nine performance indicators reflect on how well three health financing objectives: sufficient and sustainable resource generation, financial accessibility and optimal use of resources of health financing function followed by health financing policy goal: universal health coverage and ultimate health system goal: improved and equitable outcome.

However, to meet the objective of the study, only health financing performance indicators related to financial accessibility were analyzed, as tabulated in Table 5.

In this framework, most of the performance indicators apply to more than one health financing functions. However, in the context of this study, all three health financing functions will be analyzed by specific performance indicators with their Operationalizations, as depicted in Table 5 and Table 6.

TABLE 5	HFAI TH	FINANCING	FUNCTION	WITH	THEIR	PERFORMANCE	INDICATOR((25))
INDEE 5		1 Invite Cline	1011011011	** 1 1 1 1	THEFT	I EIG OIG MADE	INDICATOR	~~,	1

Health Financing Function	Performance Indicator
Resource Collection	Level of Population Coverage, Level of Equity in Financing
Pooling	Degree of Financial Risk Protection, Level of Pooling
Purchasing	Equity in Benefits Package Delivery.

Each performance indicator relevant to financial accessibility will be analyzed by the key financial indicator tabulated in Table 6. However, besides the performance indicator of

health financing function, the health system and stewardship function will be overviewed by the points mentioned in Table 6.

Financial indicators looked at are suggested by the author of the framework; however, any relevant finding not suggested by the author will be included in the findings and will be discussed in the discussion section.

Country Context And Health System Overview, Stewardship And Governance	 Gross domestic product (GDP) growth rates Health infrastructure Key actors in health financing Human resources for health The legal and regulatory framework for health financing Actors involved in stewardship functions
Level of Equity In Financing	 Total and specific health financing payments (for example, taxes, contributions, insurance premiums, co-payments, OOP health expenditure)/household income
Level Of Population Coverage	 Percentage of population covered by a financial risk protection mechanism Percentage of people covered by a financial risk protection mechanism in each quintile or population group
Degree Of Financial Risk Protection	 Prepayment ratio GGHE/THE (%) Percentage of households experiencing catastrophic expenditure Percentage of households impoverished by out-of-pocket (OOP) expenditures on health
Level Of Pooling	 Health care spending per pool member set in relation to the overall health risks of pool members The link between resource allocation to sub-pools and health care needs/ costs
Equity In The Delivery Of A Given Benefit Package	Benefit Package And Payment Provider Mechanism

TABLE 6 OPERATIONALIZATION OF EACH INDICATOR(25)

2.8. KEYWORDS:

Keywords used to search literature are tabulated in Table 7.

TABLE 7 HEALTH FINANCING FUNCTION WITH KEYWORDS USED

Health Financing Function	Keywords
Stewardship	Ministry Of Health, Health Administration, Health Governance, India
Resource collection	Health Financing, Sources Of Financing, Public Spending Health, Out-Of- Pocket Payments Health, Total Health Expenditure (THE), Revenue Health Insurance, Equity, India, Universal Healthcare Donor Fund, Health Insurance, Government General Tax; Collection Rule, National Health Account, India
Pooling	Social Health Protection, Social Health Insurance, Government Health Schemes, Voluntary Insurance.
Purchasing	Benefits Package, Provider Payment Mechanism, Equity, Provider Payment methods, Fee-for-Service, Intersectional approach, India

2.9. LIMITATIONS:

The study does not focus on a particular state or district in India, so there is a possibility that some state/ district-specific issues might not have covered.

Available data on health expenditure in India from the data source National Health Account and the World Health Organization(WHO) database are not the same.

The national health account present estimates in decimal where WHO presents in round figures. However, for inter-state comparison, the National health account is followed, whereas the country comparison WHO database is supported.

The national health account and WHO both present data up to the financial year 2015-16, so the amount estimates of health expenditure presented in this study are from 2015-16, which might be different from 2018-19 estimates.

This study does not analyze private health care providers and health insurance schemes, and only focus on public health care providers. However, data available from different state health insurance schemes in India were included.

This paper only included literature published in English and had free access. So the possibility of exclusion of some relevant study results cannot be denied.

However, all the government official documents found relevant to the study are included with its English version, made available by the government of India.

CHAPTER 3 STUDY RESULTS FINDINGS

This chapter will look at the health system overview, stewardship function in the health system, and analyze health financing function(Resource collection, Pooling, Purchasing) with their Operationalizations.

To explore the stewardship function, institutional design and organizational structure of the Health care system in India. This subsection is organized as follow.

- 3.1. Gross domestic product (GDP) growth rates
- 3.2. Actors involved in stewardship functions
- 3.3. Healthcare system, service delivery and infrastructure
- 3.4. Human resources for health
- 3.5. The legal and regulatory framework for health financing
- 3.6. Key actors in health financing
- 3.7. Health Expenditure in India
- 3.8. Resource collection
- 3.9. Pooling
- 3.10. Purchasing

3.1. GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT (GDP) GROWTH RATES:

Indian is the seventh-large economy in the world in terms of GDP(26). In 2018 estimated GDP of India was 2.7 trillion international united state dollars (INR 187.7 million) with the annual growth rate of 6.9% (27). However, by looking at per-capita GDP in terms of purchasing power parity, India ranks 119 among the countries in the world and is even below then neighboring countries like Bhutan and Sri Lanka(28). In comparison to the annual growth rate of GDP, per capita, the annual growth rate is 5.8%(28).

3.2. ACTORS INVOLVED IN STEWARDSHIP FUNCTIONS:

By the mandate of the constitution of India article 47, the state government is accountable for offering health care services as per the guidelines of Indian public health standards(5). However, governance and administration of the healthcare system in India are provided by both union and state government as per the seventh Indian constitutional schedule(29) (5). For instance, Union government is responsible for national disease-specific programs (National AIDS Control Programme, Revised National Tuberculosis Programme, National Non-Communicable Disease Programme, Janani Shishu Suraksha Karyakram, National Health Mission to mention a few) aimed to stop and control communicable and noncommunicable diseases, enhancing maternity and child health. However, maintaining public health, hospitals, sanitation, nutrition is the duty of state government. Both (union and state) governments collectively control quality in drug manufacturing, medical education, population control programs, and programs to ensure economic safety against invisible medical expenses and food adulteration avoidance.

3.3. HEALTHCARE SYSTEM, SERVICE DELIVERY AND INFRASTRUCTURE:

3.3.1. HEALTH CARE SYSTEM:

A health system is an organization whose main objective is to enhance health and health equity through the most effective use of accessible resources in financially fair and responsive ways and primary actions intended to promote, restore or maintain health(30).

India has seven health systems, namely Allopathic and AYUSH (Ayurveda, Yoga and Naturopathy, Unani, Siddha, and Homeopathy), which are legally acknowledged and practiced to fulfill the health care needs of countrymen(31).

Governance and administration of Allopathic and AYUSH are done by different ministries, departments, and councils.

The allopathic health system, for instance, is under the ministry of health and family welfare. However, AYUSH is governed and administered by the ministry of AYUSH(32).

3.3.2. SERVICE DELIVERY:

To achieve this goal, India has organized a three-tiered health-care system for preventive and curative health care needs and categorized as primary, secondary, and tertiary health care systems (34). Public and private healthcare providers give health care services in rural and urban areas(33).

The primary health care system is the first contact point between patient and healthcare system responsible for providing primary care through sub centers (SC) the first point of contact between community and health services(35) and primary health care centers(PHC) responsible for providing integrated curative and preventive health care services (36).

The second tier of the health system is designed to provide care to patients referred from primary health care in need of specialist care the second tier of the health system in India includes district hospitals, sub-district hospitals, and community health center at the block level(33). Five thousand six hundred twenty-four community health centers, 12000 sub-district hospitals, and 605 district hospitals are functioning across India(7).

The third tier of the health system offers services such as specialized intensive care units, advanced diagnostic support services, and specialized consultative care to a patient referred from primary and secondary medical care. Medical colleges and research institutes provide the third tire of the health care system(33).

Private healthcare providers ranging from multi-specialty corporate hospitals to private clinics and solo medical practitioners, including registered medical practitioners and informal healthcare providers(healers without a valid medical license) are part of the private

healthcare industry in India(37). Private healthcare provider primarily provide secondary and tertiary care(38)

3.3.3. HEALTH CARE INFRASTRUCTURE:

Health care infrastructure reflects on the commitment of the government to ensure the necessary support for the delivery of public health activities(39).

The country has total 1,56,231 sub-centers(23), 25,650 PHCs, 476 medical colleges, 562 dental colleges, 3,215 institutions for general nurse midwives courses, and 777 colleges for pharmaceutical studies.

All together public facilities have 7,10,761 total number of hospital beds in the country of which 19,810 public hospitals are in a rural area offering 2,79,588 beds, and 3,772 public hospitals are in the urban area with 43,1,173 beds. Also, dispensaries (27,698 total in number) and hospitals (3,943 total in number) are delivering their services under AYUSH management status (7).

3.4. HUMAN RESOURCES FOR HEALTH:

Human resource for health is one of the vital pillars of the healthcare system and to ensure the effective functioning of healthcare facilities; it is essential to have an adequate skill mix human resource for health.

Across the country number of allopathic practicing, doctors are 1.4 million, whereas doctors practicing AYUSH all together are 773668. Also dental (251207), auxiliary nurse midwives(ANM) (841,279), registered nurses & registered midwives(1,980,536), lady health visitors (56,367) and pharmacist (907,132) work across the country(7).

Among the AYUSH practicing doctors number of doctors practicing Ayurveda is more as compared to the rest of the counterpart, as shown in figure 3.



FIGURE 3 PERCENTAGE OF REGISTERED AYUSH DOCTORS IN INDIA(7)

The distribution of health care facilities and human resources for health varies across the state, and their numbers are associated with state government spending on health care.

The general government health expenditure(GGHE) of state Assam is 7.5% of general government expenditure (GGE), and on average one allopathic doctor is present over the population of 539 people and one government hospital bed serves 1914 people whereas in Bihar GGHE is 4.4% of GGE, and one allopathic doctor is present over the population of 28,391 and one bed is available for the population of 5654 which is far more in comparison to Assam (Table 8). World Health Organization(WHO) has recommended one doctor per 1000 population(40). However, in Indian states, this ratio far low in comparison to the recommended ratio.

TABLE 8 FINANCING INDICATORS AND PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES(7)

STATE; AVERAGE POPULATION SERVED PER GOVERNMENT ALLOPATHIC DOCTORS AND HOSPITAL BEDS, AND GENERAL HEALTH EXPENDITURE AS A PERCENT OF GENERAL GOVERNMENT HEALTH EXPENDITURE AS PERCENT OF GENERAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE; FINANCIAL YEAR 2015-16						
State	General Government Health Expenditure as percent of General Government Expenditure (State Government)	Average Population Served/Gov ernment Allopathic Doctors	Average Population Served Per Government Hospital Bed	General Government Health Expenditure As Percent Of General Government Expenditure	Poor Quality of Care; Reason For Not Using Public Facilities(%)	
Assam	7.5%	539	1914	7.5%	30%	
Gujarat	6.5%	11,475	1946	6.5%	34%	
Maharashtr a	5.9%	16000	2306	5.9%	36%	
Madhya Pradesh	5.2%	17,192	2661	5.2%	48%	
Bihar	4.4%	28,391	8654	4.4%	59%	

Inadequate numbers of medical staff and health care facilities affect the utilization of public facilities. For instance, in Assam, 30% of households who do not use public healthcare facilities gave poor quality of care as a reason whereas in Bihar, 59% said so, as seen in Table 8.

This also can be seen as these people are forced towards expensive private health care providers, which may become a barrier to access needed health care services due to financial hardship. It is also a violation of the right to access health care services.

Health care services in private facilities are expensive as compared to public facilities. For instance, in 2014, estimated total expenditure on per childbirth in public facilities in the rural area(INR 1587/ 23 USD) and urban area(INR 2217/30 USD). However, in private

facilities, it was estimated at rural (INR 14778/214 USD) and in urban (INR 20238/ 293 USD)(7)

Despite private health facilities are expensive compared to public facilities, services of private facilities are preferred over public health facilities, across the rural-urban population and lowest, fourth and highest wealth quintiles. However, a household in second and middle wealth quintiles use public facilities for their health care needs, as depicted in Table 9.

TABLE 9 SOURCE OF HEALTH CARE PROVIDER ACROSS THE WEALTH INDEX AND RURAL-URBAN AREA(14)

	Resid	ence	Wealth Index				
Main source of health care	Urban	Rural	Lowest	Second	Middle	Fourth	Highest
Provider							
Private healthcare facilities	56%	49%	48.1%	43.7%	46.1%	52.2%	66.8%
Public facilities	42%	46%	45.7%	51.7%	50.6%	45.7%	31.5%

To look at the possible cause for Inter-state disparity in spending on health, it is important to look at the legal and regulatory framework and identify why this disparity exists.

3.5. LEGAL AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK FOR HEALTH FINANCING:

Health financing is an arrangement by which financial resources for health are mobilized, accumulated, and utilized within the health system, to provide needed health care services to people without financial hardship(41).

Health care financing models countries follow to manage the healthcare system can be categories as follow.

Bismarck Model: Named after Otto von Bismarck, first chancellor of the German empire who invented this model(42). In this model of financing, the healthcare system is financed by the compulsory contribution of employer and employee to employer insurance fund and managed by nonprofit agencies, for those who are not covered by employ insurance funds are covered by public funds. This system is also known as social health insurance(41).

Beveridge System: named after Lord William Beveridge(41), who designed National Health Services in Britain, this model uses tax money to finance the healthcare system to provide needed healthcare to all citizens(43).

Mixed Model: In this model with an element of Bismark (tax money) and Beveridge models (compulsory employer-employee contribution), private funding by voluntary health insurance also has a significant contribution to finance health care system(44).

In India, the healthcare financing system is a combination of all these models. As for government employees', the Bismarck model is in place, schemes like the central government health scheme(CGHS) covering union government employee and ex-employees (including their dependents) (45). Whereas state government schemes, employ state insurance scheme(ESIC) covering employees (including their dependents)working in organizations registered under factories act are in place(46). Also, government-financed and

private health insurance schemes which are in place to provide financial protection against unseen health expenditure. However, at the same time, public health facilities are funded by tax money and are liable to provide healthcare services at free of cost to below poverty line families and subsidized prices to rest of rural and urban populations(33).

3.6. KEY ACTORS IN HEALTH FINANCING:

Key actors in health financing in India are government (union, state, local bodies), external donor, household and firms [public firms (railways and army) and private firms have their network of health facilities and provide services to their employees and dependents or may reimburse the medical bills of the employee]. Figure 4 provides an overview of the main actors and fund flow in the Indian health system.



FIGURE 4 FLOW OF FUNDS(47)

3.7. HEALTH EXPENDITURE IN INDIA:

Total health expenditure (THE), is current plus capital expenditures incurred by the government and private sources including external/donor funds, and household spending on health, as a percent of GDP indicate expenditure relative to the economic development of the country, whereas per capita THE identifies health expenditure per person in the country.

With the economic development of the country, health expenditure has not increased, on the contrary, it has decreased in the financial year 2015-16 by 0.2% and 0.1 % in comparison of the fiscal year 2013-14 and 2014-15 respectively. However, per capita expenditure on health increased in 2015-16 over three years, as depicted in Table 10.

General Government Health Expenditure (GGHE) per capita, which includes the current plus capital cost on health, is a health expenditure done by the Indian government (Union and State government together with local bodies) on per countrymen whereas GGHE as % of GDP indicates GGHE concerning economic development. Also, fiscal space for health in the country is reflected by GGHE as % of general government expenditure (GGE). GGHE per capita has increased over three years. However, GGHE in 2015-16 has only increased by 0.03% and 0.08% in comparison to the financial year 2013-14 and 2014-15. Also, fiscal space for health has increased by 0.29%, whereas donor dependency has increased by 0.4% over three years, as shown in Table 10.

Financi al Years	Total Health Expenditur e Per Capita	Total Health Expenditur e as % GDP	General Governme nt Health Expenditur e Per Capita	General Governme nt Health Expenditur e as % of GDP	General Governme nt Health Expenditur e as % of General Governme nt Expenditur e (fiscal space for health)	External Funding For Health (donor dependency)as % THE
2015- 16	INR 4116(58 USD/51 Euro	3.8%	1261(17 USD/15 Euro)	1.18%	4.07%	0.7%
2014- 15	INR 3826(54 USD/48 Euro)	3.9%	INR 1108 (15.5 USD/14 Euro)	1.1%	3%	0.7%
2013- 14	INR 3638(51 USD/45 Euro)	4%	INR 786 (11USD/ 10 Euro)	1.15%	3.78%	0.3%

TABLE 10 KEY HEALTH FINANCING INDICATORS FOR INDIA 2015-16 (48), (49), (50)

3.8. RESOURCE COLLECTION:

Resource collection is one of the three functions of health financing function, aiming to raise revenue for health in equitable and efficient way in order to provide needed health services to people without financial hardship(41).

This section will look at the resource collection function of healthcare financing in the country context affecting financial accessibility, and the performance indicator used will be as follows.

3.8.1. Level of Equity in Financing3.8.2. Level of Population Coverage

3.8.1. LEVEL OF EQUITY IN FINANCING:

The level of equality measures the degree of contribution by households according to their ability to pay(42).

In India, sources for financing health care are tax money(collected by Union and state government and the local bodies), health insurance (social, private and government-sponsored schemes), and out-of-pocket payments.

3.8.1.1. GOVERNMENT GENERAL TAX; COLLECTION RULE:

For union and state governments, the main source of funds is from tax money. Responsibility for raising taxes is shared by the union and, state government, and local bodies(52). Union government is responsible for collecting, income tax, customs duties, central excise and sales, and service tax, whereas the state government collects sales tax(tax on interstate sales of goods), stamp duty state excise, land revenues, local body is empowered to levy a tax on properties tax on markets user charges like water supply, drainage(53).

The total number of income taxpayers has increased over time. For instance, in the 2013-14 total number of the income taxpayer was 52.79 million, and by 2017-18, their number increased to 74.13 million(54). However, a significant portion of the population does not pay income tax, as out of 1.33 billion people (current approximate population), only 1% of the entire population paid their income taxes in 2016-17(54).

Revenue from indirect taxes [tax collected by the third person from the consumer against the purchase of goods or services(53)] has significant share in total tax revenue as percent of GDP compared to direct taxes[tax imposed on income or profit of the person(52)] as shown in the Table 11(55).

Table 11 source of tax as a percent of gdp from the financial year; 2013-14 to 2016-17 $\,$

Financial Year	Direct Tax Revenue As % Of GDP	Indirect Tax Revenue As % Of GDP	Total Tax Revenue As % Of GDP
2013-14	5.78	10.95	16.73
2014-15	5.64	10.72	16.36
2015-16	5.63	11.95	17.57
2016-17	5.72	12.10	17.82

The provision of indirect taxing is a regressive meaning percent of income given as tax money by households in lower wealth quintile is more than the percentage of income given by households in higher wealth quintile; on the other hand, a direct taxes are considered progressive (41).

However, a higher contribution of indirect tax is seen as a result of new policy reforms in taxing. For instance under "swachh bharat mission" tax were increased on polymer bags, and lignite, also subsidies on petroleum were decreased.

Studies done in order to find the effect of macro-economy and public health expenditure found that taxes(direct and indirect) can increase public health expenditure by decreasing the fiscal deficit and debt burden(56).

All broad-based and redistributive taxes, money supply function, and borrowing powers are predominantly assigned to the union government(52). At the same time, most expenditure functions including healthcare services, are obliged to state, given by the constitution of India(24), due to their comparative advantage in better understanding of community-based need(53). This results in a gap between revenue collected and expenditure needed by the state government(57), and vertical imbalance in terms of wealth, among state and union governments(48). Furthermore, horizontal inequality among states is another worry, due to differences in raise revenues ability and unit cost for providing public healthcare services(58).

In the constitution of India, the issue of fiscal imbalances has been recognized and addressed by the provision of intergovernmental transfers of funds from the union government to the state government(16).

Sharing of funds between union and state government can be is categorized into "General Purpose" and "Specific Purpose."

The general purpose is unconditional transfers aiming to make available comparable levels of public services at similar tax rates. Whereas specific purpose transfer is conditional transfer, for union government-sponsored and administered health schemes, aiming to ensure minimum standards of public health services(59).

There are three main channels for intergovernmental transfer of funds mainly from the union government to state government.

The first channel is based on the recommendation of the finance commission, appointed by the president of India every five years, to put a suggestion on the sharing of taxes between union and state government(60). Secondly is by the planning commission of India- a central government body that releases funds as per formula- based standard central assistance, and also for state-specific priority and development of infrastructure(57). Third is by different ministries to their counterpart ministries in the state in the form of full union government-funded programs or by union government-sponsored program with a contribution of state government. National Health Mission is one of the examples of such a union government-sponsored scheme(60) where funds are released as(7).

- National Rural Health Mission (NRHM) Flexi pool, National Urban Health Mission (NUHM) Flexi pool, for Routine Immunization, Pulse Polio Immunization, Iodine Deficiency Disorder Control Programme.
- Reproductive and child health (RCH) flexi pool,
- Flexible pool for communicable diseases national vector-borne disease control(49)
- The program, national T.B. control programme, national leprosy eradication programme, integrated
- Disease surveillance programme
- Flexible pool for non communicable diseases including injury and trauma and infrastructure maintenance covering national programme for control of blindness, national mental health programme, health care for the elderly, national programme for prevention &control of deafness, national tobacco control programme, national oral health programme, assistance to states for capacity building, national programme for prevention and control of cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and stroke, other new initiatives under non-communicable diseases.

The state governments, release funds to the district health societies, for further release to the local bodies (municipal corporations and village councils also known as panchayats) who in turn, further disburse funds to various implementing units (community health centers/ primary health centers/ sub-centers) (24). The trend in union-state government share as % in total public expenditure on health is shown in figure 5.



Figure 5 trend of union, state government share as % in total public expenditure on health 2009-10 to 2015-16(7)

The contribution of the union government in total public expenditure on health has remained in the range of 36% to 31% over seven years. It is also noted that share of the union government in total public expenditure on health(GHE) is gradually decreasing over time, as in the financial year 2009-10 union government contributed 36% in total GHE which reduced to 31 % in 2015-16, as shown in figure 5.

The low share of from union government is due to the inability of the state government to utilize available funds for health. However, due to the unspent amount by the state government, the union government reduces the share of funds given to the state government in succeeding financial year, because 25% of the total estimated amount given by union government to the state government, depends on the unspent amount(61).

An increasing trend of unspent funds is noted over the years, as depicted in figure 6. Unspent funds for health question the commitment and capacity of the state government to improve health.



FIGURE 6 TREND IN UNSPENT BALANCE(2011-12 TO 2015-16) (61)

Less release of funds from the union government reduces the ability of the state government to spend on the procurement of medical supplies. After the financial year 2013-14, a sharp increase in the trend of a shortage of money for the procurement of drugs and equipment for the health facilities is noted, as shown in figure 7.

FIGURE 7 SHORT RELEASE OF FUNDS BY THE UNION GOVERNMENT AND SHORTAGE OF FUNDS FOR PROCUREMENT OF MEDICAL GOODS 2011-12 TO 2015-1 (62)



3.8.1.2. REVENUE FROM HEALTH INSURANCE(HI) SCHEMES:

The revenue generated from different health care financing schemes is increased over time. In the financial year, 2013-14 total revenue generated from different HI schemes was 5.2% of current health expenditure; however, by the financial year, 2015-16 it rose to 6.21%, as seen in figure 8. This can be seen as an overall increase in coverage of household under financial risk protection mechanism which also reflects as decreasing trend of out- of-pocket expenditure(OOPE) as % total health expenditure(THE).

Out-of-pocket expenditure as % of total health expenditure in 2004-05 was 69%, which reduces 60.59% by 2015-16 as depicted in figure 8. However, OOPE as % of THE is still too high in the comparison to the recommended limit of below 20% by the world bank and world health organization for reducing catastrophic expenditure(63).



FIGURE 8 TREND IN OUT-OF-POCKET EXPENDITURE(OOPE) AS % OF TOTAL HEALTH EXPENDITURE

Revenue from voluntary prepayment is increased over time, whereas revenue from rest other schemes has not seen any substantial growth. This indicates that voluntary HI schemes are a major contributors in revenue generated from any other HI scheme, as seen in Table 12.

TABLE 12 REVENUE FROM HEALTH INSURANCE SCHEMES(7	7)
--	---	---

Distribution of Current Health Expenditure(%) by Revenue From Health Insurance Schemes							
Financial Year	Social Insuran	ce Schemes(SIS	5)	Voluntary Prepayment	Voluntary Prepayment	Total Revenue	
	Contributions From Employee	Contributions From Employer	Total Revenue From SIS	From Individuals	From Employers	From All HI Schemes	
2015-16	0.54%	1.22%	1.76%	3.86%	0.59%	6.21%	
2014-15	0.5%	1%	1.5%	3.5%	0.5%	5.5%	
2013-14	0.5%	1.3%	1.8%	2.9%	0.5%	5.2%	

3.8.1.3. REVENUE FROM OUT OF POCKET EXPENDITURE:

Out- of -pocket expenditure(OOPE) is any health expenditure done at the point of receiving health care services. However, OOPE does not include any prepayment for health service like insurance premium or payroll tax paid(20).



Out of pocket expenditure (OOPE) is the most dominating mechanism for health financing in India, OOPE is 65% of CHE which is very high in comparison to the global average (OOPE as 18% of CHE), as depicted in figure 9 and 10. However, over the period of time OOPE as % CHE was decreased from 69% in 2013 to 65% in 2016.

3.8.1.4. REVENUE FROM EXTERNAL DONOR FUNDS:

External donor funds for health is the money available from a donor, share of donor fund in total health expenditure indicate the dependency of the country on external resources for the health care needs, and reflects on the inability of the country to mobilize domestic resources(63).

Over a period of time, India has reduced its donor dependency for health care needs. For instance, in 2004-05 share of donor money was 2.3% of total health expenditure, which reduced to 0.7% in 2015-16(7).

The money received as an aid from the donor agencies is dedicated to disease-specific programs and cannot be used for general health services, as a result, funds for selected health programs are increased only(60).

However, with inadequacy in the fund management by the government (union and state), it is also important to look at its effect on government expenditure on health.

3.8.2. LEVEL OF POPULATION COVERAGE:

The level of population coverage indicates the extent of the population covered by a financial risk protection mechanism and not put at financial risk due to the cost of care.

Health Insurance (HI) schemes and tax-based government subsidies are the two mechanisms to provide financial protection.

Health insurance is the arrangement that provides payment of benefit as a result of sickness or injury(66), whereas health insurance policy is an agreement between the insurer and individual or group where insurer provided financial protection against medical expenditure subject to terms and conditions in the plan(67).

Recent policy reforms by insurance regulatory and development authority(IRDA) of India in health financing have changed the paradigm towards Demand Side Financing(68), aiming to enhance the purchasing power of the user and to give him an option to chose for a healthcare services provider made changes in its policy to promote private insurance companies. Currently, 30 different private health insurance companies offer their services in India.

3.8.2.1. GOVERNMENT HEALTH INSURANCE SCHEMES:

Central government health insurance(HI) scheme(CGHS), a compulsory HI by the union government for its employs where contribution by the employ per month is INR 250 to 1000(3.52 to 14 s) as per monthly income(69).Similarly, the state government also has employees' state insurance scheme(ESIS) where the contribution is by employ (0.75% of wages) and employers (3.25% of employees' wages) (70).

Since 2007 the government (union and state) have launched multiple health insurance schemes for below the poverty line population. For instance, the Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana (RSBY) government-sponsored voluntary health insurance scheme, a joint venture of union and state government launched at the national level to ensure health insurance among families living below the poverty line by taking one-time registration fees of INR 30 (0.45 USD), insured person(IP) (including their dependents) is entitled to get cashless health benefit package prescribed by government of India, in impaneled hospitals for one year after which enrolment has to be renewed, 75% of this scheme is financed by the union government and 25% by the state government(71).

Similarly, health insurance schemes like Yeshaswini and Vajpayee arogyasri in Karnataka, Rajiv arogyasri scheme in Andhra Pradesh and Telangana, Chief minister's comprehensive health insurance scheme in Tamil Nadu and are state-sponsored schemes run by the state government(7). Government-sponsored HI schemes contribute least as compared to other HI schemes and have not increased over time, as shown in Table 13.

Backgroun d	Total (%)of	Health Insurance scheme-wise percent distribution of household wh of are covered by any health insurance scheme						old who
Characteri stic	House hold covere d by any Health Insuran ce scheme	Employ State Insuran ce Schem e(ESIC)	Central Governm ent Health Scheme (CGHS)	State Governm ent Health Insuranc e Scheme	Rashtri ya Swasth ya Bima Yojana (RSBY)	Other Health Insuran ce Throug h Employ er	Medica I Reimb urs ement from employ er	Private Health Insuran ce
Urban	28.2%	10.6%	8%	45.8%	19.5%	3.8%	3.7%	8.5%
Rural	28.9%	1.9%	3.3%	50.1%	41.4%	0.7%	0.5%	1.8%
Wealth Quintile								
Lowest	21.6%	0.7%	1.9%	34.3%	63.5%	0.2%	0.1%	0.4%
Second	28.4%	0.9%	2.2%	47.9%	47.1%	0.3%	0.3%	0.7%
Middle	32.3%	2.1%	2.8%	61.6%	30.2%	0.7%	0.3%	1.4%
Fourth	30.6%	5.7%	4.7%	58.7%	24.9%	1.7%	0.9%	3.2%
Highest	30.5%	13.6%	11.9%	36.2%	13.5%	5.4%	6%	13.8%
Total	28.7%	4.9%	4.9%	48.7%	33.9%	1.8%	1.6%	4.1%

TABLE 13 HEALTH INSURANCE SCHEME BY RESIDENCE AND WEALTH QUINTILE 2015-16(14)

However, seventy-one percent of Indians do not have financial cover for their healthcare needs, and the distribution of financial cove is disproportionate among the wealth quintiles. For instance, percent of household covered by HI scheme is more compared to lower wealth quintile, as seen in Table 13.

However, state-sponsored scheme and RSBY covers the majority of household, in comparison to any other scheme. However beneficiaries of RSBY are mostly from a rural area and lower wealth quintile, as RSBY only covers household from below poverty line, but household from highest wealth quintile are also beneficiary of RSBY scheme, as seen in Table 13. This indicates corruption in the scheme.

On the contrary government HI scheme, beneficiaries of private HI schemes are commonly from the highest wealth quintile urban area, as seen in Table 13.

3.8.2.2. EXPENDITURES THROUGH THE HEALTH INSURANCE AGENCIES HEALTH INSURANCE (HI) SCHEMES:

Expenditures through the social health insurance(HI) agencies for providing healthcare services to their beneficiaries is 3.2% of the current health expenditure, and this expenditure is increased over time and is more in comparison to any other HI agencies, as seen in Table 14.

Higher expenditure by social health insurance agencies indicates the extent of services offered by the agencies is more as compared to any other scheme.

All expenditures through the Health Insurance agencies for providing healthcare services to their beneficiaries as (%) of Current Health Expenditure							
Financial YearSocial Insurance schemesGovernment Financed Health Insurance SchemesEmploy Based Health Insurance Schemes (private organizations)Private Individual Health Insurance							
2015-16	3.2 %	1%	2.3%	2.1%			
2014-15	2.7%	1%	2%	1.9%			
2013-14	2.9%	1.1%	1.9%	1.6%			

TABLE 14 EXPENDITURE OF HEALTH INSURANCE AGENCIES (50) (48) (49)

3.9. POOLING:

Pooling is one of the functions of health financing policies aiming at financial risk-sharing against unseen and unpredictable medical expenditure among the population from different risk groups (72).

This section will look at the Pooling function of Healthcare financing in the country context. The following performance indicator will be used with their operationalization.

3.9.1. Degree of Financial Risk Protection

3.9.2. Level of Pooling

3.9.1. DEGREE OF FINANCIAL RISK PROTECTION:

Degree of financial risk protection measures the share pre-payment and risk pooling to health care costs in the country and estimated as follows.

- Health financing indicator[general government health expenditure(GGHE) as a percent of total health expenditure(THE)] referring to financial resources for health collected and pooled by public agencies(27).
- By evaluating percent of the household experiencing catastrophic cost

Government health expenditure is money incurred on all public-funded schemes by union and state governments together with local bodies, as low government spending can bring high dependence on household out of pocket expenditures(18). Government health expenditure as a percent of total health expenditure has increased over time. In the financial year 2004-05, GHE was 22.5% of total health expenditure; however, by 2015-16, it increased to 30.6%, as depicted in figure 11.

It can be noted that in the period of 3 years (2013-14 to 2015-16) there is no substantial change in government spending on health as percent of total health expenditure.



FIGURE 11 TREND IN GOVERNMENT HEALTH EXPENDITURE (50)

Himachal Pradesh, the state with high public expenditure have low OOPE as a percent of THE whereas in a state like Bihar with low public spending have high OOPE as a percent of THE, also trend between OOPE and government expenditure can be noted as government health expenditure decrease OOPE expenditure increase, as seen in figure 12.



FIGURE 12 STATE GOVERNMENT HEALTH EXPENDITURE AND OUT-OF-POCKET EXPENDITURE AS % OF TOTAL HEALTH EXPENDITURE (50)

*Indian states with highest and lowest Government Health Expenditure (GHE) as % of THE in the financial year 2015-16 has been selected, for all states

* Here GHE is an expenditure of the state governments

* Total Health Expenditure (THE) here is THE of state not of India

Out of pocket payment(OOPE) may result in catastrophic expenditure on health(73). Health expenditure is considered to be catastrophic if total OOPE is more than 10% of the total household monthly expenditure or OOPE more than or equal to 40% ability to pay(74).

However, in this study, health expenditure is considered catastrophic if the total OOP is more than 10% of the total household monthly expenditure.

In the year 2014, all together (rural and urban population from all wealth quintile) 18% of households incurred catastrophic health expenditure.

Since 1995-96, catastrophic health expenditure has increased 12.24-fold by 2014(75). Studies show(21), households in the wealthiest quintile more frequent have catastrophic health expenditure compare to poorest quintile, however, over time (1995–1996 and 2014) the proportion increased of CHE in increased by 3.00-fold in the lowest quintile compare to 1.74-fold in the richest. Households with older people, children, and inhabitant of rural areas are the more vulnerable group for catastrophic health expenditure (76).

3.9.2. LEVEL OF POOLING:

The level of pooling as a performance indicator estimates differences in spending per member and reveals the inequity in health spending per member. Table 15 shows parameter of different public sponsored health insurance scheme in India

How Many Pools are Present	How many Beneficiaries are there as % of Population covered by any type of health insurance	what is the Per capita expenditure	What Occupation groups are there in this pool	Enrolment Process	Premium collection process
CGHS	4.9 %	INR 7219(104 \$)	Union Government Employees' and Pensioners Semi- autonomous Government Organizations Member of parliaments and their dependents	Compulsory	A premium of INR 50(0.72 \$,) to INR 500(7.23 \$) per month as per annual salary
ESIC	4.9%	INR 505(7.3 \$)	Employees' are working in the factories registered	Compulsory	Employees' 1.75% of monthly salary and

TABLE 15 PUBLIC HEALTH INSURANCE SCHEME INSTITUTIONAL DESIGN(77)(78)(79)

			under the factory act and earning INR 15000(216\$) per month or below.		Employer 4.75 % of Employee salary
RSBY	33.9%	INR 180(2.6\$)	Below poverty line (BPL) households(5 members in the family)	Voluntary	Annual registration fees of INR 30(0.3 \$)per household
					rest of the premium is shared by union (75%) state (25%)
State Health Inst having any type	surance (HI) Scł e of HI	nemes which a	ltogether covers 4	8.7% of the p	opulation
Yeshasvini Co-operative Farmers Healthcare scheme, Karnataka	3 million households	INR 183(2.6 \$)	The entire state of Karnataka	Voluntary	58 % of the total treatment cost by the beneficiary and 42 % by the state government
Rajiv Aarogyasri Community Health Insurance Schemes	20 million households	INR 171(2.47\$)	Household in Below poverty line in the state of Andhra Pradesh	Voluntary	100% from the state government through health budget
Chief Minister KALAIGNAR'S Insurance Schemes	13. 4 million households	INR 148(2.14\$)	Household Below Poverty line in the entire state of Tamil Nadu	Voluntary	Premium price INR 469(6.78\$) per household annually rest financed by TN state.
RSBY Plus Scheme Himachal Pradesh	0.24 million	INR 200(2.89\$)	For all citizen having domicile of HP	Voluntary	Annual premium of INR 345(5\$),

Central government health scheme(CGHS) operated by the union government, covering union government employee and ex-servicemen including their dependents(77), and employees' state insurance corporation(ESIC), operated by labor ministry, covering factories workers and their dependents registered under factories act and having the annual salary less than INR 15000(214\$) per month(78).

These two are the primary social health insurance schemes in the country with a component of compulsory contribution by employees' and employers(46). Whereas , government-sponsored health insurance schemes, except RSBY PLUS and Yeshasvini Co-operative Farmers Healthcare scheme, Karnataka rest all covers only households who are below the poverty line, which is 22% of the population(the poverty line defined in India as monthly per capita consumption expenditure less than INR 972(14.06 \$) in rural whereas INR 1407(20.35 \$) in the urban area(79), as presented in Table 15.

Inter-sate equity in the coverage of the population by the HI scheme is not seen states like Kerala and Telangana have their state-sponsored health insurance schemes together with union government HI schemes.

However, states who have more population like Bihar and Uttar Pradesh, do not have any state-specific insurance scheme and rely on union government HI schemes. It reflects on the total number of the person having insurance in these states like Kerala(47.7%), Uttar Pradesh(6%), Bihar(12%) have population covered under any HI scheme(14). It results in duplication of efforts and utilization of scarce resources.

Difference in the per capita expenditure under these HI schemes exist, as central government health insurance scheme(CGHS), manage and funded by the department of health and family welfare have 128 million beneficiaries under the scheme, and per capita expenditure is INR 7219(101.5\$), whereas employ state insurance scheme ESIS managed and financed by the labor ministry also has 128 million beneficiaries and per capita expenditure is INR 505(7\$) on medical benefits, reported in 2017. Similarly, all state-specific HI schemes also have a difference in the per capita expenditure, as shown in Table 15.

The difference in per capita expenditure across HI schemes is examined on the grounds of the scheme focus, maturity, and benefits package and cost-sharing provisions benefit package in a further section.

3.10. PURCHASING:

Purchasing is one of the functions of health financing, which refers to the existing provisions of the benefits package and processes for allocating pooled funds to healthcare suppliers(80). The impact of purchasing on financial accessibility will be analyzed in this section by looking at equity in benefit package delivery, and benefits package and payment provider mechanism of different health insurance schemes will be explored.

3.10.1. BENEFITS PACKAGE AND PAYMENT PROVIDER MECHANISM:

The benefits package is a minimum set of cost-effective healthcare services, which add more value for money and available without socioeconomic demographic barriers(81).

All public health services financed through general tax money provide their services at free of cost to a household below the poverty line and at a subsidized cost to the rest of the population are. It is a societal, pooling arrangement that covers the entire community(82).

All public sponsored HI schemes follow prospective payment methods, where the rate for set of services is defined and agreed between purchaser and provider(health care facility) before the treatment takes place. However, health care staff follow salary based contract with organizations (public or private)to provide their services. However, medical practitioners who do not work with any organization, instead work for them self charge fee for service(98).

All public sponsored health insurance cover pre-existing conditions and are cashless, meaning the beneficiary has not to pay at the time of using services predefined under the package. However, benefits package under different health insurance schemes varies by level of health services covered(Primary, secondary, tertiary care) and monetary cap, Table 16 and 17 show differences in the services covered under each HI scheme.

Beneficiaries of central government health insurance scheme(CGHS) and employ state insurance scheme(ESIC) are entitled to have medical services(inpatient, outpatient, dental care, investigations, and drugs) with a cashless facility and without any ceilings, through the chain of public / ESIC health centers and private healthcare centers impaneled with CGHS/ ESIC schemes. These two schemes also cover preexisting disease and treatment under homeopathy and Ayurvedic system of medicines (77) (78). Cash benefits(70% of the daily wedges) against the salary lost due to sickness and funeral expenses is an additional benefit under the ESIC scheme(83)

HI Scheme	Service Provider	Sharing Networks	Benefit ceiling	Cash Less Or With Copayment
RSBY	A network of public and private impaneled hospital.	Inter-state	Fixed close-ended prices INR 30000(422\$) per year	Cashless
Yeshasvini Co- operative Farmers Health Care Scheme, Karnataka	Network of public and private impaneled hospital.	Only within the state	INR 200,000(2815\$) per person ceiling	Cashless
Rajiv Aarogyasri Community Health Insurance Schemes	A network of public and private impaneled hospital.	Only within the state	INR 150,000(2111\$) per family per year with an additional buffer of INR 50,000(703\$)	Cashless
Chief Minister KALAIGNAR'S Insurance Schemes	A network of public and private impaneled hospital.	Only within the state	INR. 100,000(1407\$) over four years, per family	Cashless
RSBY Plus	A network of a public and private impaneled hospital.	Only within the state	INR. 175,000(2463\$) beyond the INR. 30,000(422\$) covered by RSBY	Cashless

TABLE 16 HEALTH INSURANCE SCHEME WITH BENEFIT PACKAGE AND PAYMENT MECHANISM(78)(76)

TABLE 17 HEALTH INSURANCE SCHEME-WISE BENEFIT PACKAGE(7)

	Sharing Networks Service Covered	Services Not Covered
RSBY	Inpatient care, preexisting conditions including 700 procedures classified by 18 broad categories of interventions, include dental, ear, nose, and throat, obstetrics and gynecology, endoscopic, hysteroscopy, neurosurgery, ophthalmology, orthopedic, pediatrics, endocrinology, urology, oncology	Congenital diseases, drug, alcohol-induced illness, sterilization, and family planning-related procedures, vaccination. conditions resulting from war and attempted suicide. treatments using AYUSH
Yeshasvini Co- operative Farmers Health Care Scheme, Karnataka	Preexisting conditions, drugs, diagnostics, hospital bed charges, and the surgeries. normal delivery, neonatal care, angioplasty, and selected medical emergencies (e.g., accidents, snake and dog bites) free outpatient consultation facilities and discounted diagnostic tests	Any treatment but the defined surgeries, ambulatory treatment, joint replacement surgeries, transplants, burns, chemotherapy for malignancies, cosmetic surgery, injuries from road accidents or other medico- legal cases, dialysis, surgical consumables (implants, prostheses, meshes, heart valves, stents, bone screws and nails or grafts except for lens for cataract surgeries)
Rajiv Aarogyasri Community Health Insurance Schemes	Complete inpatient costs for 938 surgical and medical procedures pertain to defined specialties including cardiology, neurology, urology, and oncology. Treatment for burns and polytrauma are also covered. transportation costs One-year follow-up packages, including consultation, medication, and diagnostics, for selected 125 procedures.	
Chief Minister KALAIGNAR'S Insurance Schemes	400 listed inpatient conditions under 14 broad specialties, including surgical corrections for congenital disorders. In cardiac Cases, drugs worth INR. 500 (covering a two-month, post discharge supply)	Transportation cost

	402 surgical procedures cardiology, cardiothoracic surgery, cardiovascular surgery, neurosurgery, genitourinary surgery, oncology (medical, surgical, and Radiation), pediatric surgery, polytrauma, and burns. In addition, the the scheme covers 50 defined follow-up packages that include post hospitalization care for a subset of covered procedures, including consultations, Diagnostics and drugs for a year. costs of medicines for ten days post- discharge, and reimbursement of public transport	
RSBY Plus	326 procedures(preexisting conditions) within the broad specialties of cardiac and cardiothoracic surgeries, genitor- urinary surgery, neurosurgery, radiation Oncology, trauma, transplant surgeries, spinal surgeries, and surgical gastroenterology. to 15 days prior to hospitalization and up to 60 days post-discharge, AYUSH	

Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana(RSBY), designed for households below the poverty line(BPL), covers only inpatient services including emergency services, meaning medical condition in which hospitalization is required whereas the cost for outpatient services and medicine is not included and to be paid from out of pocket.

Beneficiaries of RSBY can use services anywhere in India through the chain of impaneled public and private hospitals.

State-sponsored health insurance(HI) schemes, unlike RSBY, covers inpatient and outpatient services. However, most of the services covered are surgical procedures and do not include medical conditions other than those require a surgical procedure. Also, services under state-sponsored HI schemes can only be availed within the state, as shown in Table 17.

Also, equity in the coverage of the population within the scheme is also not seen, for instance, 38 % CGHS beneficiaries are from Delhi consuming 57% of the total CGHS budget where Kolkata (8%) consuming 4% of the total budget(78).

On the other hand, despite increasing the profit margin, 8% of the eligible population is left uncovered from ESIC due to the low-concentration of employers and employees' in the region(84).

Coverage by a public sponsored scheme like RSBY also varies among the states of India. For instance, 40% of households living below the poverty line in Chhattisgarh and 23% in Rajasthan are covered under the scheme. Also, studies done to evaluate the RSBY program in Maharashtra state found that the enrolment rate and implementation of the program in the districts are poor(85).

The extent of financial protection by the HI schemes can be understood by the cost incurred on health care goods and services covered. From the Table 18, it can be seen that over a period of time, expenditure on prescribe medicine as a percent of current health expenditure(CHE) increased from 1.7% in 2013-14 to 27% in 2015-16. Similarly, the share of expenditure on laboratory and imaging services and general inpatient curative care also increased in relation to current health expenditure. However, the proportional increase in the expenditure is maximum for prescribed medicine, in comparison to expenditure on any other health care goods.

Year	Prescribe Medicine	General inpatient curative care	Specialize inpatient curative care	Laboratory and Imaging Services	General Out- Patient Care	Specialize Out-Patient Care
2015- 16	27%	21%	12%	4.30	13%	4.24%
2014- 15	28%	21%	13%	4.7%	12%	4.1%
2103- 14	1.7%	20%	14%	0.1%	29%	15.6%

TABLE 18 CURRENT HEALTH EXPENDITURE BY HEALTH CARE GOODS AND SERVICES(2013-14 TO 2015-16)(50)

A scheme like RSBY, which intended to provide financial protection against unseen health care costs to the below the poverty line households does not cover the cost incurred on medicine and has to be paid out of pocket. Studies also show that beneficiaries under the different health insurance scheme suffer from catastrophic expenditure despite having health insurance scheme(86).

Benefits Package offered by different Health insurance (HI)scheme differs not only in services covered or amount caped but also, the price provided by the package for the particular set of services, as depicted in Table 19.

Package For	Health Insurance Scheme		
	Central government health scheme	Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana	Chief Minister Kalaignar's Insurance Schemes
Femoral Hernia	18926/270 USD	8750/125 USD	7500- 15000(110-230 USD)
MRI abdomen	2444/35 USD	3125/44 USD	2500/500
Cesarean Section	16,158.00/231 USD	8625/123 USD	10000-20000/ 143 -287 USD

TABLE 19 PACKAGE RATE DIFFERENCE BY HEALTH INSURANCE SCHEME (87) (88) (89)

Flat rate-based payment mechanism may not be aligned with the market cost, which further results in extra payment to be given by the beneficiary. Also, the service provider may priorities patient on the bases of HI scheme rather than their medical condition.

CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION

This section summaries the bottleneck of the existing health financing function identified in the literature, which impacts on the financial accessibility of India's countrymen.

Fee for service is not the only cost incurred on needed health care but also the transportation cost and money lost due to absence from work is the amount which is paid by the household for the needed health care.

Existing mechanism in the health financing functions enhance the challenges of financial accessibility directly due to inadequate financial protection mechanism reliance on high out of the pocket expenditure (OOPE) and indirectly as result of insufficient health care facilities and human resource for health.

It ultimately impacts on quality of the services offered by public facilities and finally push household to seek needed healthcare services from private health care facilities at higher cost compared to public counterpart, and ultimately increase the household expenditure on health which may be unaffordable to some household and influence there behavior to see health care service when needed.

Despite of being 7th largest economy in the world, government of India spent only 1.5% of its GDP on health and 3.78% of the general government expenditure on health which is lower than the World Health Organization recommended [general government health expenditure (GGHE)should be at least 5% of GDP or 80% of the total health expenditure(THE) or 15 % of general government expenditure(GGE)] to achieve universal health coverage.

Low public spending on health across the country is not equal, a state like Himachal Pradesh, government spending on health is 47% of THE whereas, in Andhra Pradesh public spending constitutes 22% of THE.

The low public spending on health is not only due to low fiscal space for health, but also political will has been identified as a responsible factor as state governments do not utilize all the available funds for health.

Low public spending on health affects the procurement and availability of medical supplies, limit the capability to recruit health care staff, built new health care facilities and maintenance of available health facilities where needed, ultimately compromise the quality of care given in public facilities and deprives needy patients from health care services.

States like Bihar and Madhya Pradesh with low government health expenditure (current and capital expenditure) as % of general government expenditure which reflects on fiscal space for health, have a high average number of the population served by a doctor and less number of government hospital bed available per patient compared to states like Assam and

Gujarat who have higher government health expenditure and low average number of population per doctor and more government hospital beds per patient.

Inadequate medical supplies, health care staff, and health care facilities negatively influence the behavior of patients to utilize government facilities for their health care needs. For instance, Bihar is one of the states with lowest public spending on health and 77% of the population in Bihar do not use public facilities for their health care needs, whereas in Assam where public spending on health is more compared to Bihar state, 20% population in Assam state do not use public facilities.

Reason given for not using use public facilities are poor quality of care (59%) in Bihar, (30%) in Assam, long waiting time in government facilities(38%) in Bihar and (34%) in Assam, no nearby public facility(42%) in Bihar and(20%) in Assam.

Due to poor services and the unavailability of public facilities, people are forced to use private facilities. However, the health care in private facilities is expensive, and that's why the health care needs of poor and marginalized people are compromised and reflect as disproportionate distribution burden of disease and health outcomes across the country as well as wealth quintiles.

Out-of-the-pocket expenditure(OOPE) is one of the main source for financing health in India. In the financial year 2015-16, out-of-pocket expenditure was 65% of current health expenditure which far more than the recommended OOPE as 20% of current health expenditure(CHE) by the world health organization(WHO).

Government health expenditure determines the extent of OOPE. For example, low public spending increase OOPE. For instance government health expenditure of Himachal state is 47% of total health expenditure of state, and 49% of total health expenditure(THE) of state is done as OOPE whereas 19% of THE of Bihar state is done by the government of Bihar and 79% of total health expenditure of state is out of pocket.

Association between government health expenditure and out of pocket expenditure is also found in the studies done in India(74,90).

Out of pocket payment is a regressive form of financing and put the burden of health care cost on the household. A most common source of OOPE is household savings but in some case treatment cost may exceed the saving in which case the patient has to borrow the money from the relatives and friend or have to sales assets as seen in Table 4. This indicates the catastrophic health expenditure which occurs due to OOPE.

Out of pocket expenditure occurs on medical goods and services used, It is worth noting that expenditure on prescribed medicine is 27% if current health expenditure(CHE) which is maximum in comparison to others medical goods and services followed by general inpatient curative care (21%) and general outpatient curative care (13%). However, over a period of time, the proportional increase in expenditure on prescribed medicine as a percent of CHE is highest in comparison to any other medical goods and services.

The extent of catastrophic health expenditure in India has increased 12.24- fold over time(1995-96 to 2014015). An increase in the catastrophic expenditure is noted across the wealth quintile. However, the extent of increase is more among the household in lower wealth quintiles.

Households who do not have assets to sell and financially not strong enough to have savings are vulnerable to compromise with quality of care and their health care needs, and the result is a disproportionately higher burden of disease among these groups.

These findings have implications for risk pooling mechanisms and benefits packages offered by different health insurance schemes in India.

The Health system in India is financed by tax money, which is collected by union and state government together, in the form of direct (income tax, payroll tax, name to few) and indirect tax(form sale or purchase of goods, value-added tax, name to few).

In tax-based financing health services, the pooling of health risk is among all countrymen irrespective of their health status, age, sex, and amount contributed. Moreover, in tax-based financing, the extent of adverse selection(pool of high health risk) and risk selection (pool of low health risk) is less.

In India, only one percent of people pay direct taxes, due to the high informal working population and high tax evasion.

The contribution of indirect tax is more than the direct tax and has increased over time. Indirect taxes are regressive meaning poor pay more percent of his income compared to rich counterparts.

Many researchers debate on the effectiveness of the direct and indirect tax on health. Indirect taxes put a burden on household expenditure and may influence the behavior of users towards services, which is not seen with direct taxes. However, indirect taxes are important for economic growth and can contribute to increase fiscal space for health.

In the context of India, the relation between indirect tax and fiscal space for health is noted in the study findings. For instance in the financial year 2014-15 and 2015-16 contribution of direct tax decreased by 0.01% (5.64% and 5.63% respectively), however, contribution of indirect tax increased by 1.23% (10.72% and 11.95% respectively), and in the same financial year contribution of general government health expenditure as % of general government expenditure increase by 1.07% (3 % and 4.07% respectively) as seen in Table 10. There is only one study(56), which showed the association between indirect tax and fiscal space for public expenditure on health. However, this association is not consistent among other studies done so far and requires further research in the context of India.

Revenue from the taxes is not the only source; revenue generated by means of heal health insurance is considered as, more progressive than the household expenditure on health.

In India, only 28% population have any kind of health insurance scheme, meaning 72% are not covered by any form of health insurance and depend on their savings for their health care expenses, which may not be sufficient and result in catastrophic expenditure.

From 28% of household who have health insurance, 4.9% are beneficiary of central government health insurance scheme (CGHS) and another 4.9% are beneficiary of employ state insurance scheme(ESIS). These two health insurance schemes are the only social insurance scheme with a compulsory contribution. Rest all other health insurance schemes are based on voluntary contribution.

Health insurance provides financial protection and reduces the extent of out-of-pocket expenditure by ensuring risk related to financial health intervention is distributed among all the pooled members instead of individual contributors in the scheme.

Health insurance schemes in India, have successfully reduced the extent of out-of-pocket expenditure(OOPE) and catastrophic health expenditure, which is consistent with other studies done in India(91,92), and other lower-middle-income countries(93).

One of the findings of this study is the fragmentation of health insurance schemes according to population segment covered, implementing body is noted. Social health insurance scheme (central government health insurance scheme and employ state health insurance scheme) government-sponsored health insurance scheme (RSBY and state government health insurance schemes), private health insurance schemes are in place.

Fragmentation in the health insurance schemes brings inequity in financial protection and health outcomes among the beneficiaries of different plans, which is also evident in the studies done in other lower-middle-income countries(94), and BRICS countries(95).

Inequity in the financial protection and health outcome in case of fragmented health insurance mechanism is due to the population covered and the benefits package, varies for each health insurance scheme. For instance benefit package offered by central government health insurance scheme and employees' state insurance offers unlimited and uncapped medical services to its beneficiaries, besides the heath related expense these two schemes also include cash benefits, funeral, and rehabilitation expenses(in ESIC), also dental care services are covered which is not seen with other health insurance scheme.

On the other hand, a scheme like RSBY which covers households from low socio-economic class only covers inpatient services and excludes cost incurred on medicines and outpatient services.

This indicates that beneficiaries of health insurance schemes other than ESIS and CGHS schemes have to bear the cost incurred on prescribed medicine and outpatient services from their pockets.

It reflects on inequity in the distribution of benefit package, as households below poverty line as are the main beneficiary of the RSBY scheme and cost of prescribed medicine is not covered which is one of the major source of out of pocket expenditure, whereas benefit package under CGHS and ESIC scheme whose beneficiary are usually not below poverty line and are employed cover dental services and funeral cost which is not common for any other public and private health insurance scheme in India.

This indicates the inability of RSBY scheme to reduce Out of pocket expenditure among the poor. Two studies are done to analyze the impact of RSBY (96), (97) also noted out of pocket payment up to the extent of catastrophic expenditure in some cases among the beneficiaries of RSBY scheme.

Equity in the coverage of the population within the insurance scheme is not seen. For instance, 38% of total beneficiaries of the CGHS scheme live in Delhi and consume 57% of the total CGHS budget whereas in Kolkata only 8% are beneficiaries under the CGHS scheme and consume 4% of the total budget.

On the other hand, despite increasing the profit margin ESIC, 8% of the eligible population is left uncovered across the country from ESIC due to the low-concentration of employers and employees' in the particular region.

Coverage by a public sponsored insurance scheme like RSBY which covers the only household below the poverty line also varies among the states of India. For instance, 40% of families living below the poverty line in Chhattisgarh and 23% in Rajasthan are covered under the scheme, indicating not all eligible population is covered under the scheme on contrary it is found during the literature review that household from above poverty line are also covered under the RSBY scheme this indicates leakage in the coverage of scheme

It is also noted that RSBY has yet not covered all the eligible households under the scheme but on contrary scheme also have beneficiaries who are not below the poverty line despite the fact that this scheme is only for household below the poverty line. This indicates corruption in the management and implementation of the programs.

Benefits packages in health insurance schemes have a fixed price for a predefined set of services, which generally include room charge, drugs cost, fees of health care staff, and diagnostic service.

Issues with fixed price benefit packages are, the cost of services offered by the package may vary from the usual fee for services.

The difference in the cost for the service covered in the package and fee for service result in overpayment by the benefit package in the cities where services cost low in comparison to the cities where services cost are more. It may attract services providers in underserved regions. However, in the region where service costs are higher than the package cost, providers may not offer their services under the scheme.

As seen in Table 17, a benefits package under the schemes is not clearly defined. For instance, prostate surgery is covered, but it is not specified which method to be adopted, and the duration of stay.

No clear definition of the benefits package may result in misuse of the benefits package by the provider by advising expensive consumables, drugs and providers may provide services aiming to increase their profit margin at the cost of patient health.

Cost defined for the similar package under various health insurance benefit package varies as seen in Table 19.

The difference in the price for the same service covered by the benefit packages under the different health insurance schemes may influence the behavior of providers to offer his service and may result in cream-skimming for the patient, meaning priority given to the patient according to their health insurance scheme and not as per medical condition of the patient.

The analysis performed above, have some limitations. I aim to analyze bottlenecks in the performance of health financing function obstructing financial accessibility.

The issue of low fiscal space for health in the government budget is identified. However, the reason for not utilizing available funds by the government is not clear due to no exact literature, also, for effective payment provider mechanism inadequate literature found during analysis.

Despite official data presents corruption in the RSBY scheme why the government is not able to control it is not clear. Further study is required to answer these questions.

Overall, the argument from different studies about low public spending as a bottleneck is not convincing, as an increase in government spending has to be aligned with capacity building to utilize the funds.

Also, health insurance, as a factor for financial security, however, is advocated by multiple studies(24)(31). However, my finding suggests that benefits packages offered by the health insurance has to align with the market cost and should include a big pool of risk-sharing with the best-suited payment provider mechanism, which needs further research.

To put it simple, only by increasing government spending and multiple health insurance schemes will not accomplish the objective of financial accessibility. Government should consider to strengthen revenue generation mechanism together with pooling and purchasing mechanism.

On the basis of my analysis my key recommendation are discussed in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

5.1. RECOMMENDATION:

By managing available financial resources for health strategically by state and union government, it is possible for them to ensure financial protection for all.

On the basis of finding my key recommendations will be as follow.

5.1.1. INCREASE PUBLIC SPENDING ON HEALTH

Both Union and state governments should prioritize health and boost public expenditure, as an investment in health increase the country's economic development. For instance poor health conditions such as anemia and malnutrition influence labor productivity in the short-run and in long-run results in inter-generational issues like low-birth weight, increase in Neonatal mortality and poverty.

Low public spending results in an increase in private out of pocket expenditure and may result in catastrophic expenditure which may end in impoverishment and reduce economic growth.

Increase in public spending depends on fiscal space for health and political will. To increase fiscal space beside the general tax, the government must also think about mandatory tax for health which can be levied with general tax(direct and indirect)revenue collected will go to the Ministry of health. This will increase fiscal space for health. For instance, 0.01 % of salary and form any sort of money transaction (buy or sell) 0.01 % will go to health account. To avoid duplication, only the state government must levy this tax.

5.1.2. CAPACITY BUILDING OF STATE GOVERNMENT HEALTH MINISTRY

The states' governments are not able to utilize their available funds despite the current needs for health care spending.

Union government must ensure that the state government spends their available health budgets efficiently, and can use the annual report which comptroller and auditor general (CAG) of India submit annually.

In case the state government fails to utilize available funds despite the scope to do so, then union government must do capacity building of the health ministry of the state.

Also qualitative study should be done to identify the possible bottlenecks in administration and management of state government health ministry, district and subdistrict level.

5.1.3. INVESTMENT IN THE HEALTH CARE FACILITIES AND HUMAN RESOURCE FOR HEALTH

The State governments should consider increasing the number of health care facilities besides the quality of care given by the public facilities. State governments must take accountability to assure the availability of health care facilities(primary, secondary, and tertiary), health care goods, and human resources in public facilities, as per the norms of Indian public health standards.

Increase public spending on health and capacity building of the government to utilize available funds as per the requirement, will allow the government to invest more on human resource for health and public facilities aiming to increase coverage and improve quality of services offered by the public facilities.

It will increase the use of public facilities and decrease the extent of household expenditure on health as public facilities are cheaper than the private counterpart.

5.1.4. ONE NATION ONE HEALTH INSURANCE SCHEMES POLICY

Currently, India has multiple health insurance(HI) schemes pooling different risk groups, resulting in the disproportionate availability of HI schemes across the country, and duplication of efforts.

Instead of multiple HI schemes, the government (union and state) must consider one HI scheme covering all citizens, irrespective of age, sex, socio-economic status.

Enrolment to the scheme must be compulsory, and contribution to the scheme must be as per economic status with the provision of minimum contribution amount by the beneficiary.

State and union government should share the remaining cost left after the compulsory contribution of beneficiaries as per the economic status of the state to ensure solidarity.

Benefits package should be capped with a set amount covering health conditions require treatment as per medical indication and can be used across the country within public and government impaneled private hospital.

The provision of voluntary health insurance schemes by the public and private organizations is advocated, as voluntary health insurance scheme can cover services not covered by the compulsory health insurance scheme in their benefits package.

The benefits packages offered by voluntary health insurance schemes will be an extension of the compulsory health insurance scheme.

5.1.5. ANNUAL ANALYSIS OF BENEFIT PACKAGE

With industrialization and advancement in medical science, health care needs and cost both have changed over time. The government should consider the annual analysis of cost covered and services offered by the health insurance scheme they prefer to operate in the country in order to make necessary changes in the benefits package if required.

5.1.6. RESEARCH FOR PAYMENT PROVIDER MECHANISM IN INDIA

The government should invest in research for the best-suited payment provider mechanism for the Indian health care system, as the payment provider mechanism plays an important role in determining the overall cost of care and its burden on the household.

5.2. CONCLUSION:

From the study result, it can be summarized that financing is an important pillar of the health system. Mechanisms adopted for financing health care services influence the behavior of patients to seek healthcare services and health outcomes.

Bottlenecks of the current healthcare system function, which impacts financial accessibility not only among the household in the lowest wealth quintile but also among the household in the highest wealth quintile are due to inadequate political commitment, multiple fragmented risk pool and provider payment mechanism which has not been changed since.

This has resulted in an inadequate number of public healthcare facilities and human resources for health with their uneven distribution among the rural and urban populations. As a result, the perceived quality of care offered by the public facilities is not good and resulted in the diversion of the user towards expensive private healthcare facilities.

On top of that high out of pocket expenditure due to inadequate risk pooling mechanism has resulted in borrowing and sale of assets besides savings as a source of money required for the healthcare needs this indicates that households from lower wealth quintiles may compromise their medical needs due to no financial protection.

The government of India aiming to provide financial protection against unseen health expenses to households living below the poverty line has come up with health insurance schemes targeting households living below the poverty line. However, voluntary enrolment, inadequate coverage of the eligible population, and corruption have reduced the impact of these schemes to provide financial protection.

Benefits package offered by Health insurance(HI) schemes differs in terms risk covered. Schemes like CGHS and ESIC seems to cover services not covered by any other HI scheme in India. On other hand schemes like RSBY, and other state government HI schemes provide cover against inpatient services and neglect out patient services.

Health insurance can play an important role in expanding fiscal space for health and provide financial protection and improve financial accessibility and ultimately health outcome the only need is to make HI schemes in such a way that it covers everyone and provide benefit package as per need of the community.

Further study with a wide range of financing methods as per the needs of a household from different wealth quintiles and from a rural-urban population with flexibility in features of the benefits package offered is required.

Reference:

- Xu K, Soucat A & Kutzin J (2018). Public Spending on Health: A Closer Look at Global Trends. Geneva: World Health Organization; (WHO/HIS/HGF/HFWorkingPaper/18.3). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/276728/WHO-HIS-HGF-HF-WorkingPaper-18.3-eng.pdf?ua=1
- 2. Asante AD, Price J, Hayen A, Irava W, Martins J, Guinness L, (2014). Assessment Of Equity In Healthcare Financing In Fiji And Timor-Leste: A Study Protocol. BMJ Open :e006806. Available from: https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/12/e006806
- 3. Berman P, Ahuja R, Tandon A, Sparkes S, Gottret P. (2010). GOVERNMENT HEALTH FINANCING IN INDIA: CHALLENGES IN ACHIEVING AMBITIOUS GOALS.; Available from:http://siteresources.worldbank.org/HEALTHNUTRITIONANDPOPULATION/Resour ces/2816271095698140167/GovernmentHealthFinancinginIndiaChallengesinAchieving AmbitiousGoals.pdf
- 4. Countries ranked by Out-of-pocket health expenditure (percent of total expenditure on health) [Internet]. [cited 2019 May 18]. Available from: https://www.indexmundi.com/facts/indicators/SH.XPD.OOPC.TO.ZS/rankings
- Constitution of India | National Portal of India [Internet].page 24 [cited 2019 May 17]. Available from: https://www.india.gov.in/sites/uploadfiles/npi/files/coicontents.pdf
- 6. Interactive Maps of India Tourism, Railway, Language maps [Internet]. [cited 2019 Aug 4]. Available from: https://www.mapsofindia.com/maps/
- Government of India. National Health Profile 2018. Central Bureau of Health Intelligence, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Nirman Bhawan, New Delhi, 13 issue. p. 1–278. Available from: https://cdn.downtoearth.org.in/pdf/NHP-2018.pdf
- M. Govind Rao. India. Report on Central Transfers To States In India. New Delhi. National Institute of Transforming India(NITI Aayog). (2015) [cited 2019 May 18]. Available from: https://niti.gov.in/writereaddata/files/document_publication/Report%20on%20CENTR AL%20TRANSFERS%20TO%20STATES%20IN%20INDIA.pdf
- **9.** World Population Prospects 2019. Population Division. United Nations [Internet]. Available from: https://population.un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/Population/

- **10.** World Population Prospects Graph. Population Division. United Nations [Internet]. [. Available from: https://population.un.org/wpp/Graphs/Probabilistic/POP/60plus/356
- **11.** India Population 2019. Population of India 2019 [Internet].[Updated 2010-jan-1] Available from: http://www.indiapopulation2019.in/
- **12.** Official exchange rate (LCU per US\$, period average) | Data [Internet].. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/PA.NUS.FCRF
- **13.** Report for Selected Countries and Subjects [Internet]. International Monetary Fund. Available from: <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/IND</u>
- 14. International Institute for Population Sciences (IIPS) and ICF. 2017. National Family Health Survey (NFHS-4), 2015-16: India. Mumbai: IIPS. Available from: http://rchiips.org/nfhs/NFHS-4Reports/India.pdf
- **15.** United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). human development Indices and Indicator . statistical update 2108. Available from: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2018_human_development_statistical_update. pdf
- Rao, Govinda & Choudhury, Mita. (2012). Health Care Financing Reforms in India. Research Gate. Working Paper No: 2012-100. Available from:https://www.researchgate.net/publication/241763971
- Fullman N, Yearwood J, Abay SM, Abbafati C, Abd-Allah F, Abdela J, (2018). Measuring performance on the Healthcare Access and Quality Index for 195 countries and territories and selected subnational locations: a systematic analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. The Lancet . 391(10136):2236–71. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(18)30994-2
- 18. Reddy, K.Srinath & Balasubramaniam, Priya & Bhokare, Sachin & Chitkara, Priya & Choksi, Maulik & Damisetti, Thammarao & Dey, Subhojit & Gupta, Yogeshwar & Farooqui, Habib & Kahol, Kanav & Kar, Shivangini & Kaur, Manjot & Kumar, Preeti & Gaiha, Shivani & Menon, Subhadra & Mishra, Ruchi & Misra, Madhavi & Nambiar, Devaki & Narayan, Kavitha & Verma, Namrata. (2011). High Level Expert Group Report on Universal Health Coverage for India. 10.13140/RG.2.2.12162.27843. Available from: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/312288487</u>
- **19.** Israel S. (2016). How social policies can improve financial accessibility of healthcare: a multi-level analysis of unmet medical need in European countries. International journal for equity in health, 15, 41. doi:10.1186/s12939-016-0335-7. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4779225/
- **20.** Bhan, N., Rao, K. D., & Kachwaha, S. (2016). Health inequalities research in India: a review of trends and themes in the literature since the 1990s. International journal for equity in health, 15(1), 166. doi:10.1186/s12939-016-0457-y. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5053026/

- Pandey, A., Ploubidis, G. B., Clarke, L., & Dandona, L. (2018). Trends in catastrophic health expenditure in India: 1993 to 2014. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 96(1), 18–28. doi:10.2471/BLT.17.191759.Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5791868/
- 22. Dutta, S., & Lahiri, K. (2015). Is provision of healthcare sufficient to ensure better access? An exploration of the scope for public-private partnership in India. *International journal of health policy and management*, 4(7), 467–474. doi:10.15171/ijhpm.2015.77. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4493587/

23. International Institute for Population Sciences (IIPS) and ICF. (2017). National Family Health Survey (NFHS-4), 2015-16: India. Mumbai: IIPS.. Available from: http://rchiips.org/NFHS/pdf/NFHS4/India.pdf

- 24. Kumar AS, Chen LC, Choudhury M, Ganju S, Mahajan V, Sinha A, (2011). Financing health care for all: challenges and opportunities. The Lancet;377(9766):668–79. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(10)61884-3
- 25. Mathauer I and Carrin G (2010): OASIS user manual. A tool for health financing review performance assessment options for improvement. WHO Department of Health Systems Financing, Geneva. Available from: https://www.who.int/health_financing/tools/oasis_manual_version_october.pdf?ua=1
- 26. Mohan.Geeta, India fastest growing major economy in 2018-19, will grow by 7.3%: World Bank | 10 points. India Today. January 9, 2019 11:00 IST [cited 2019 May 20]. Available from: https://www.indiatoday.in/business/story/world-bank-report-indiafastest-growing-major-economy-7-3-gdp-growth-2018-19-1426716-2019-01-09
- **27.** Global Health Expenditure Database|Visualizations | Indicator Metadata Registry . World Health Organization. [cited 2019 Jul 21]. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/nha/database/ViewData/Indicators/en</u>
- **28.** GDP (current US\$). The World Bank Database. The World Bank. [cited 2019 Jul 19]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD
- National-Health-Policy 2017. Ministry Of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India. New Delhi. [cited 2019 May 17]. Available from: http://cdsco.nic.in/writereaddata/National-Health-Policy.pdf
- **30.** Every body's business- Strengthening Health System to improve health outcomes. (2007). World Health Organization. Geneva. ISBN 978 92 4 1596077. Available from: https://www.who.int/healthsystems/strategy/everybodys_business.pdf
- **31.** Ravishankar, B., & Shukla, V. J. (2007). Indian systems of medicine: a brief profile. African journal of traditional, complementary, and alternative medicines : AJTCAM, 4(3), 319–337. doi:10.4314/ajtcam.v4i3.31226. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2816487/

- 32. Shankar, D., & Patwardhan, B. (2017). AYUSH for New India: Vision and strategy. Journal of Ayurveda and integrative medicine, 8(3), 137–139. doi:10.1016/j.jaim.2017.09.001. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5607391/
- **33.** Chokshi, M., Patil, B., Khanna, R., Neogi, S. B., Sharma, J., Paul, V. K., & Zodpey, S. (2016). Health systems in India. Journal of perinatology : official journal of the California Perinatal Association, 36(s3), S9–S12. doi:10.1038/jp.2016.184. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5144115/
- **34.** Faizi, N., Khalique, N., Ahmad, A., & Shah, M. S. (2016). The dire need for primary care specialization in India: Concerns and challenges. *Journal of family medicine and primary care*, *5*(2), 228–233. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.192382. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5084538/
- Dar, Khursheed. (2015). Utilization of the Services of the Primary Health Centres in India - An Empirical Study. 16. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/322759927
- **36.** Kasthuri A. (2018). Challenges to Healthcare in India The Five A's. Indian journal of community medicine : official publication of Indian Association of Preventive & Social Medicine, 43(3), 141–143. doi:10.4103/ijcm.IJCM_194_18. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6166510/.
- **37.** Sengupta, A., & Nundy, S. (2005). The private health sector in India. BMJ (Clinical research ed.), 331(7526), 1157–1158. doi:10.1136/bmj.331.7526.1157. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1285083/
- Reshmi B, Sreekumaran NN, Sabu KM, Unnikrishnan B. Awareness, Attitude and their correlates towards health insurance in an Urban South Indian Population. Manag Health. 2012;16:32–5.. Available from: http://journal.managementinhealth.com/index.php/rms/article/viewFile/221/660
- **39.** Understanding Healthcare Access in India. Report by the IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics.(2012). Available from:http://www.imshealth.com .
- **40.** Kumar, R., & Pal, R. (2018). India achieves WHO recommended doctor population ratio: A call for paradigm shift in public health discourse!. Journal of family medicine and primary care, 7(5), 841–844. doi:10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_218_18. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6259525/
- **41.** Liaropoulos L, Goranitis I. (2015). Health care financing and the sustainability of health systems. Int J Equity Health 14(1):80. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-015-0208-5
- Health Care Systems Four Basic Models. Physicians for a National Health Program. [updated 2019]. Available from: http://www.pnhp.org/single_payer_resources/health_care_systems_four_basic_mode ls.php

- **43.** Wallace L. S. (2013). A view of health care around the world. Annals of family medicine, 11(1), 84. doi:10.1370/afm.1484. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3596027/
- **44.** Gaeta, M., Campanella, F., Capasso, L., Schifino, G. M., Gentile, L., Banfi, G. Ricci, C. (2017). An overview of different health indicators used in the European Health Systems. Journal of preventive medicine and hygiene, 58(2), E114–E120.. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5584080/
- **45.** Eligibility for Joining Central Government Health Scheme (CGHS): Central Government Health Scheme Ministry Of Health and Family Welfare. Government of India. New Delhi.[last Updated on August, 09,2019]. Available from: https://cghs.gov.in/index1.php?lang=1&level=1&sublinkid=6020&lid=3946
- **46.** Patnaik, B .Chandra & Satpathy, Ipseeta & Deo Padma, Singh. (2011). Role of Employees' State Insurance (ESI) in the district of Cuttack- A survey. International Journal of Research in IT & Management (IJRIM), 2231-4334. 1. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/259674892
- **47.** La Forgia, Gerard; Nagpal, Somil. (2012). Government-Sponsored Health Insurance in India : Are You Covered?. Directions in development : human development. World Bank. CC BY 3.0 IGO.". Available from: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/11957
- National Health Systems Resource Centre (2016). National Health Accounts Estimates for India (2013-14). New Delhi: Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India. Available from: https://mohfw.gov.in/sites/default/files/89498311221471416058.pdf
- 49. National Health Systems Resource Centre (2017). National Health Accounts Estimates for India (2014-15). New Delhi, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India.. Available from: https://mohfw.gov.in/sites/default/files/National%20Health%20Accounts%20Estimat es%20Report%202014-15.pdf
- 50. National Health Systems Resource Centre (2018). National Health Accounts Estimates for India (2015-16), New Delhi, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India. Available from: https://mohfw.gov.in/sites/default/files/NHA Estimates Report 2015-16.pdf
- 51. Asante, A., Price, J., Hayen, A., Jan, S., & Wiseman, V. (2016). Equity in Health Care Financing in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review of Evidence from Studies Using Benefit and Financing Incidence Analyses. e0152866. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0152866. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4827871/
- **52.** Ghuge, Nishant & Vasantrao Katdare, Vivek. (2015). Indian Tax Structure An analytical perspective. International Journal in Management and Social Science. 03. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/301477012

- **53.** Rao, Govinda & Singh, Nirvikar. (2012). The Assignment Of Taxes And Expenditures In India. 10.1093/Research Gate:oso/9780195686937.003.0006. Available from : https://www.researchgate.net/publication/254352099
- **54.** Time Series Data Financial Year 2000-01 to 2017-18. Income Tax Department. Government of India. New Delhi. Available from: https://www.incometaxindia.gov.in/Documents/Direct%20Tax%20Data/time-seriesdata-2017-18.pdf
- **55.** Indian Public Finance Statistics 2016-2017. Ministry Of Finance Department Of Economic Affairs Economic Division. Government of India. New Delhi. Available from: https://dea.gov.in/sites/default/files/IPFS.pdf
- 56. Deepak Kumar Behera, Umakant Dash, Juan Sapena. (2018) The impact of macroeconomic policies on the growth of public health expenditure: An empirical assessment from the Indian states, Cogent Economics & Finance, 6:1, DOI: 10.1080/23322039.2018.1435443. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/23322039.2018.1435443
- 57. Nayak, Chittaranjan & Satpathy, Priyabrata. (2017). Federal Finance in India: An Analysis of Discretionary Transfers. VISION : Journal of Indian Taxation. 4. 10.17492/vision.v4i01.9990. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320570236
- 58. Mahamallik, Motilal & Dr. Pareswar, Sahu & Mahapatra, Sushanta. (2014). The Paradox of Fiscal Imbalances in India. DSE working paper University of Bologna Italy. 10.2139/ssrn.2512126.Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/267155308
- **59.** Fan, V. Y., Iyer, S., Kapur, A., Mahbub, R., & Mukherjee, A. (2018). Fiscal transfers based on inputs or outcomes? Lessons from the Twelfth and Thirteenth Finance Commission in India. *The International journal of health planning and management*, *33*(1), e210–e227. doi:10.1002/hpm.2444. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5901023/
- **60.** M. Govinda Rao, Nirvikar Singh, The Political Economy of India's Fiscal Federal System and its Reform. *The Journal of Federalism*, Volume 37, Issue 1, Winter 2007. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/publius/pjl014

61. Impact of National Rural Health Mission on Reproductive and Child Health in Assam. Comptroller and Auditor General of India Chapter 3 Financial Management Report No.4 of 2017. Available from: https://cag.gov.in/content/chapter-3-financial-management-report-no4-2017-impact-nrhm-reproductive-and-child-health

62. Fund Management. Performance Audit Union Government. Ministry of Health and Family welfare. India, New Delhi . Comptroller and Auditor General of India (CAG). Chapter 2. Report No. 25 of 2017 (2017).-_. Available from: https://cag.gov.in/sites/default/files/audit_report_files/Chapter_2_-___Fund_management_of_Report_No.25_of_2017_-

_Performance_audit_Union_Government_ _Reports_of_Ministry_of_Health_and_Family_Welfa.pdf

- **63.** Tracking universal health coverage: 2017 global monitoring report. World Health Organization and International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank; 2017. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259817/9789241513555eng.pdf?sequence=1
- **64.** Global Health Expenditure Database. World Health Organization. Available from: https://apps.who.int/nha/database/ViewData/Indicators/en
- 65. Out-of-pocket expenditure (% of current health expenditure. The World Bank Database. The World Bank. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.XPD.OOPC.CH.ZS?end=2016&locations=1W-IN&start=2000&view=chart
- **66.** Prinja S, Chauhan AS, Karan A, Kaur G, Kumar R. Impact of publicly financed health insurance schemes on healthcare utilization and financial risk protection in India: A systematic review. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0170996. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5289511/</u>
- **67.** G.V.R.K. Acharyulu, Ramaiah Itumalla,, L. Kalyan viswanath Reddy. (2016). Health insurance in India: Issues and challenges | International Journal of Current Research. Available from: http://www.gmferd.com/journalcra.com/sites/default/files/11794_0.pdf
- Prinja S, Bahuguna P, Gupta I, Chowdhury S, Trivedi M. (2019). Role of insurance in determining utilization of healthcare and financial risk protection in India. PLOS ONE: e0211793. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0211793
- 69. Central Government Health Scheme(CGHS). Contribution and Ward Entitlement. Government of India. last update on 3 Available from: https://cghs.gov.in/WriteReadData/I892s/CGHS%20Contribution%20and%20Ward%2 0Entitlement.pdf
- **70.** Contribution. Employees' State Insurance Corporation, Ministry of Labour & Employment, Government of India [Internet]. Available from: https://www.esic.nic.in/contribution
- **71.**: Financing For Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojna: Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojna, Ministry Of Health And Family Welfare, Government Of India. Available from: http://www.rsby.gov.in/how_works.html
- 72. C Smith, Peter & Witter, Sophie. (2012). Risk Pooling in Health Care Financing: The Implications for Health System Performance. Available from: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228590900</u>
- **73.** Kashyap, G. C., Singh, S. K., & Sharma, S. K. (2018). Catastrophic Health Expenditure and Impoverishment Effects of Out-of-pocket Expenses: A Comparative

Study of Tannery and Non-tannery Workers of Kanpur, India. Indian journal of occupational and environmental medicine, 22(1), 22–28. doi:10.4103/ijoem.IJOEM_168_17. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5932907/

74. Sekhar Bonu, Indu Bhushan, Manju Rani, Ian Anderson, Incidence and correlates of 'catastrophic' maternal health care expenditure in India, Health Policy and Planning, Volume 24, Issue 6, November 2009. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czp032

75. Selvaraj S, Farooqui HH, Karan A Quantifying the financial burden of households' out-of-pocket payments on medicines in India: a repeated cross-sectional analysis of National Sample Survey data, 1994–2014 *BMJ Open* 2018;8:e018020. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018020. Available from: http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/8/5/e018020.abstract

76. Anamika Pandey, a George B Ploubidis, b Lynda Clarkec & Lalit Dandonaa. (2018)
Trends in catastrophic health expenditure in India: 1993 to 2014. Research Gate. DOI: 10.2471/BLT.17.191759. Available from: Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/figure/Proportion-of-households-with-catastrophic-health-expenditure-by-states-level-of_fig1_322090388

- **77.** About CGHS. Central Government Health Scheme CGHS, Ministry of Health and family welfare, Government of India. [last update 2019 August 09]. Available from: https://cghs.gov.in/index1.php?lang=1&level=1&sublinkid=5783&lid=3656
- **78.** About us | Employees' State Insurance Corporation, Ministry of Labour & Employment, Government of India. [last update 2019 Jul 3]. Available from: https://www.esic.nic.in/about-us
- **79.** Satapathy, Swastik & K Jaiswal, Krishna. (2018). A Study on Poverty Estimation and Current State of Poverty in India. Research Gate. ISSN 2455-6378. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326156921_a_study_on_poverty_estimat_i n_and_currentstate_of_poverty_in_india
- 80. Purchasing and provider payment systems, Health financing. World Health organization [Internet]. [last update 2019 Jul 17]. Available from: https://www.who.int/health_financing/topics/purchasing/en/
- 81. Saksena, P., Hsu, J., & Evans, D. B. (2014). Financial risk protection and universal health coverage: evidence and measurement challenges. PLoS medicine, 11(9), e1001701. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001701. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4171370/
- **82.** Prinja, S., Kaur, M., & Kumar, R. (2012). Universal health insurance in India: ensuring equity, efficiency, and quality. Indian journal of community medicine : official publication of Indian Association of Preventive & Social Medicine, 37(3), 142–149.

doi:10.4103/0970-0218.99907. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3483505/

- Benefit Package. Employee's State Insurance Corporation, Ministry of Labour & Employment, Government of India. Available from: https://www.esic.nic.in/attachments/publicationfile/9c602823dc546e77b5458ab267a b7b38.pdf
- 84. Reddy, S., S. Selvaraj, K. D. Rao, M. Chokshi, P. Kumar, V. Arora, S. Bhokare and I. Ganguly (2011), 'A critical assessment of the existing health insurance models in India', A Report Submitted to the Planning Commission of India, January, New Delhi. Available from: http://planningcommission.nic.in/reports/sereport/ser/ser heal1305.pdf
- **85.** Thakur H. (2016). Study of Awareness, Enrollment, and Utilization of Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana (National Health Insurance Scheme) in Maharashtra, India. Frontiers in public health, 3, 282. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2015.00282. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4703752/
- 86. Karan, A., Yip, W., & Mahal, A. (2017). Extending health insurance to the poor in India: An impact evaluation of Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana on out of pocket spending for healthcare. Social science & medicine (1982), 181, 83–92. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.03.053. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5408909/
- **87.** Rates 2014- Allahabad, Central Government Health Scheme. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. Available from: https://cghs.gov.in/showfile.php?lid=4339
- **88.** Package rate, Chief Minister's Comprehensive Health Insurance Scheme, Government of Tamil Nadu. Available from: https://www.cmchistn.com/packagesRate.php
- 89. Operational Manual, Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana (RSBY), Ministry of Labour & Employment Government of India. Available from: http://rsby.gov.in/Docs/Revamp%20of%20RSBY%20Phase%20I%20-%20Operational%20Manual(Released%20on%2011th%20June%202014).pdf
- **90.** Chowdhury, S., Gupta, I., Trivedi, M., & Prinja, S. (2018). Inequity & burden of outof-pocket health spending: District level evidences from India. The Indian journal of medical research, 148(2), 180–189. doi:10.4103/ijmr.IJMR_90_17. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6206772/
- 91. Jain K. (2013). Health Financing and Delivery in India: An Overview of Selected Schemes. India. Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO).working Paper number 29. Available from: <u>http://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/publications/files/Jain-Health-Financing-India-WIEGO-WP29.pdf</u>.
- **92.** Sujatha Rao. (2005). Financing and Delivery of Health Care Services in India : Background Papers report. India. THE COMMISSION ON MACROECONOMICS AND Health, WHO,. Available from: https://www.who.int/macrohealth/action/Background%20Papers%20report.pdf

- **93.** Lagomarsino G, Garabrant A, Adyas A, Muga R, Otoo N. (2012). Moving towards universal health coverage: health insurance reforms in nine developing countries in Africa and Asia, 380(9845):933–43. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(12)61147-7/abstract
- 94. McIntyre, D., Ranson, M. K., Aulakh, B. K., & Honda, A. (2013). Promoting universal financial protection: evidence from seven low- and middle-income countries on factors facilitating or hindering progress. *Health research policy and systems*, *11*, 36. doi:10.1186/1478-4505-11-36. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3848816/
- 95. Rao, K. D., Petrosyan, V., Araujo, E. C., & McIntyre, D. (2014). Progress towards universal health coverage in BRICS: translating economic growth into better health. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 92(6), 429–435. doi:10.2471/BLT.13.127951. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4047799/
- **96.** Palacios, Robert & Das, Jishnu & Sun, Changqing. (2011). India's Health Insurance Scheme for the Poor: Evidence from the Early Experience of the Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/327989836
- **97.** Devadasan, N., Seshadri, T., Trivedi, M., & Criel, B. (2013). Promoting universal financial protection: evidence from the Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana (RSBY) in Gujarat, India. Health research policy and systems, 11, 29. doi:10.1186/1478-4505-11-29. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3751687/

98. Kumar D, Sohal S (2018) Overview of Health Care Expenditure & Healthcare Payment Methods in India. Health Econ Outcome Res Open Access 4: 154. DOI: 10.4172/2471-268X.1000154. Available from: https://www.omicsonline.org/open-access/overview-ofhealth-care-expenditure-amp-healthcare-payment-methods-in-india-2471-268X-1000154-102622.html?aid=102622

YOUR KNOWLEDGE HAS VALUE



- We will publish your bachelor's and master's thesis, essays and papers
- Your own eBook and book sold worldwide in all relevant shops
- Earn money with each sale

Upload your text at www.GRIN.com and publish for free

